Analysis on Riemannian foliations of bounded geometry

Jesús A. Álvarez López, Yuri A. Kordyukov, and Eric Leichtnam

(Communicated by Peter Schneider)

Tribute to Christopher Deninger for his 60th birthday

Abstract. A leafwise Hodge decomposition was proved by Sanguiao for Riemannian foliations of bounded geometry. Its proof is explained again in terms of our study of bounded geometry for Riemannian foliations. It is used to associate smoothing operators to foliated flows, and describe their Schwartz kernels. All of this is extended to a leafwise version of the Novikov differential complex.

Contents

1.	Introduction	222
2.	Preliminaries on section spaces and differential operators	224
3.	Preliminaries on bounded geometry	229
4.	Preliminaries on foliations	236
5.	Riemannian foliations of bounded geometry	247
6.	Operators of bounded geometry on differential forms	250
7.	Leafwise Hodge decomposition	253
8.	Foliated maps of bounded geometry	256
9.	A class of smoothing operators	257
10.	Description of some Schwartz kernels	259
11.	Extension to the leafwise Novikov differential complex	262

The authors were partially supported by FEDER/Ministerio de Ciencia, Innovación y Universidades/AEI/MTM2017-89686-P and MTM2014-56950-P, and Xunta de Galicia/2015 GPC GI-1574 and ED431C 2019/10. The second author is partially supported by the RFBR grant 16-01-00312.

1. INTRODUCTION

Christopher Deninger has proposed a program to study arithmetic zeta functions by finding an interpretation of the so-called explicit formulas as a (dynamical) Lefschetz trace formula for foliated flows on suitable foliated spaces [16, 17, 18, 19, 20]. Hypothetically, the action of the flow on some reduced leafwise cohomology should have some Lefschetz distribution. Then the trace formula would describe it using local data from the fixed points and closed orbits. The precise expression of these contributions was previously suggested by Guillemin [27]. Further developments of these ideas were made in [22, 35, 36, 33].

Deninger's program needs the existence of foliated spaces of arithmetic nature, where the application of the trace formula has arithmetic consequences. Perhaps some generalization of foliated spaces should be considered. Anyway, to begin with, we consider a simple foliated flow $\phi = \{\phi^t\}$ on a smooth closed foliated manifold (M, \mathcal{F}) . We assume that \mathcal{F} is of codimension one and the orbits of ϕ are transverse to the leaves without fixed points.

The first two authors proved such a trace formula when $\{\phi^t\}$ has no fixed points [3]. A generalization for transverse actions of Lie groups was also given [4]. It uses the space $C^{\infty}(M; \Lambda \mathcal{F})$ of leafwise forms (smooth sections of $\Lambda \mathcal{F} = \bigwedge T \mathcal{F}^*$ over M), which is a differential complex with the leafwise derivative $d_{\mathcal{F}}$. Its reduced cohomology is denoted by $\overline{H}^*(\mathcal{F})$ (the leafwise reduced cohomology). Since ϕ is foliated, there are induced actions $\phi^* = \{\phi^{t*}\}$ on $C^{\infty}(M; \Lambda \mathcal{F})$ and $\overline{H}^*(\mathcal{F})$. In this case, \mathcal{F} is Riemannian, and therefore it has a leafwise Hodge decomposition [2],

(1)
$$C^{\infty}(M;\Lambda\mathcal{F}) = \ker \Delta_{\mathcal{F}} \oplus \overline{\operatorname{im} d_{\mathcal{F}}} \oplus \overline{\operatorname{im} \delta_{\mathcal{F}}},$$

where $\delta_{\mathcal{F}}$ and $\Delta_{\mathcal{F}}$ are the leafwise coderivative and leafwise Laplacian. Moreover, the leafwise heat operator $e^{-u\Delta_{\mathcal{F}}}$ defines a continuous map

(2)
$$C^{\infty}(M;\Lambda\mathcal{F}) \times [0,\infty] \to C^{\infty}(M;\Lambda\mathcal{F}), \quad (\alpha,t) \mapsto e^{-u\Delta_{\mathcal{F}}}\alpha,$$

where $\Pi_{\mathcal{F}} = e^{-\infty\Delta_{\mathcal{F}}}$ is the projection to ker $\Delta_{\mathcal{F}}$ given by (1). This projection induces a leafwise Hodge isomorphism

(3)
$$\bar{H}^*(\mathcal{F}) \cong \ker \Delta_{\mathcal{F}}.$$

These properties are rather surprising because the differential complex $d_{\mathcal{F}}$ is only leafwise elliptic. Of course, the condition on the foliation to be Riemannian is crucial to make up for the lack of transverse ellipticity. The decomposition (1) may not be valid for non-Riemannian foliations [21].

On the other hand, the action ϕ^* on $\overline{H}^*(\mathcal{F})$ satisfies the following properties [3, 4]. For all $f \in C^{\infty}_{c}(\mathbb{R})$ and $0 < u \leq \infty$, the operator

(4)
$$P_{u,f} = \int_{\mathbb{R}} \phi^{t*} e^{-u\Delta_{\mathcal{F}}} f(t) dt$$

is smoothing, and therefore it is of trace class since M is closed. Moreover, its super-trace, $\text{Tr}^{s}P_{u,f}$, depends continuously on f and is independent of u,

and the limit of $\operatorname{Tr}^{s} P_{u,f}$ as $u \downarrow 0$ gives the expected contribution of the closed orbits. But, by (3) and (4), the mapping $f \mapsto \operatorname{Tr}^{s} P_{\infty,f}$ can be considered as a distributional version of the super-trace of ϕ^{*} on $\overline{H}^{*}(\mathcal{F})$; i.e., the Lefschetz distribution $L_{\operatorname{dis}}(\phi)$, solving the problem in this case.

We would like to extend the trace formula to the case where ϕ has fixed points, which are very relevant in Deninger's program. But their existence prevents the foliation from being Riemannian, except in trivial cases. However, the foliations with simple foliated flows have a precise description [6]. For example, the \mathcal{F} -saturation of the fixed point set of ϕ is a finite union M^0 of compact leaves, and the restriction \mathcal{F}^1 of \mathcal{F} to $M^1 = M \setminus M^0$ is a Riemannian foliation. Moreover, \mathcal{F}^1 has bounded geometry in the sense of [44, 5] for certain bundle-like metric g^1 on M^1 . Then, instead of $C^{\infty}(M; \Lambda \mathcal{F})$, we consider in [7] the space $I(M, M^0; \Lambda \mathcal{F})$ of distributional leafwise forms conormal to M^0 (the best possible singularities). This is a complex with the continuous extension of $d_{\mathcal{F}}$, and we have a short exact sequence of complexes,

$$0 \to K(M, M^0; \Lambda \mathcal{F}) \hookrightarrow I(M, M^0; \Lambda \mathcal{F}) \to J(M, M^0; \Lambda \mathcal{F}) \to 0,$$

where $K(M, M^0; \Lambda \mathcal{F})$ is the subcomplex supported in M^0 , and $J(M, M^0; \Lambda \mathcal{F})$ is defined by restriction to M^1 . A key result of [7] is that we also have a short exact sequence in (reduced) cohomology,

$$0 \to H^*K(\mathcal{F}) \to \bar{H}^*I(\mathcal{F}) \to \bar{H}^*J(\mathcal{F}) \to 0,$$

with corresponding actions $\phi^* = \{\phi^{t*}\}$ induced by ϕ . Thus we can now define $L_{\text{dis}}(\phi) = L_{\text{dis},K}(\phi) + L_{\text{dis},J}(\phi)$, using distributional versions of the super-traces of ϕ^* on $H^*K(\mathcal{F})$ and $\overline{H}^*J(\mathcal{F})$.

On the one hand, $H^*K(\mathcal{F})$ can be described using Novikov cohomologies on M^0 . Under some conditions and taking coefficients in the normal density bundle, we can define $L_{\text{dis},K}(\phi)$ in this way, with the expected contribution from the fixed points.

On the other hand, $\bar{H}^*J(\mathcal{F})$ can be described using the reduced cohomology $\bar{H}^*H^{\infty}(\mathcal{F}^1)$ of the cochain complex defined by $d_{\mathcal{F}^1}$ on the Sobolev space $H^{\infty}(M^1; \Lambda \mathcal{F}^1)$ (defined with g^1); actually, leafwise Novikov versions of this complex are also needed. At this point, to define $L_{\text{dis},J}(\phi)$, we need a generalization of (1)–(4) for Riemannian foliations of bounded geometry using this type of cochain complex. This generalization is the purpose of this paper.

Precisely, let \mathcal{F} be a Riemannian foliation of bounded geometry on an open manifold M with a bundle-like metric. Then Sanguiao [44] proved versions of (1)–(3) using $H^{\infty}(M; \Lambda \mathcal{F})$ and $\bar{H}^*H^{\infty}(\mathcal{F})$ instead of $C^{\infty}(M; \Lambda \mathcal{F})$ and $\bar{H}^*(\mathcal{F})$. We explain again the proof in terms of our study of Riemannian foliations of bounded geometry [5].

Moreover, let ϕ be a simple foliated flow on M transverse to the leaves. If the infinitesimal generator of ϕ is C^{∞} uniformly bounded, then we also get that (4) defines a smoothing operator $P_{u,f}$, and whose Schwartz kernel is described for $0 < u < \infty$. But now the operators $P_{u,f}$ are not of trace class because M is not compact. So additional tools will be used in [7] to define and study $L_{\text{dis},J}(\phi)$ (see also [34]).

Finally, we show how to extend these results to leafwise versions of the Novikov complex, as needed in [7].

2. Preliminaries on section spaces and differential operators

Let us recall some analytic concepts and fix their notation.

2.1. Distributional sections. Let M be a (smooth, i.e., C^{∞}) manifold of dimension n, and let E be a (smooth complex) vector bundle over M. The space of smooth sections, $C^{\infty}(M; E)$, is equipped with the (weak) C^{∞} topology (see, e.g., [32]). This notation will be also used for the space of smooth sections of other types of fiber bundles. If we consider only compactly supported sections, we get the space $C_{c}^{\infty}(M; E)$, with the compactly supported C^{∞} topology.

Let $\Omega^a E$ $(a \in \mathbb{R})$ denote the line bundle of *a*-densities of *E*, and let $\Omega E = \Omega^1 E$. Let *TM* and T^*M be the (complex) tangent and cotangent vector bundles, respectively, $\Lambda M = \bigwedge T^*M$, $\Omega^a M = \Omega^a TM$ and $\Omega M = \Omega^1 M$. Moreover, let $\mathfrak{X}(M) = C^{\infty}(M;TM)$ and $\mathfrak{X}_c(M) = C^{\infty}_c(M;TM)$. The restriction of vector bundles to any submanifold $L \subset M$ may be denoted with a subindex, like E_L , T_LM , T_L^*M and $\Omega_L^a M$. Redundant notation will be removed; for instance, $C^{\infty}(L; E)$ and $C^{\infty}(M;\Omega^a)$ will be used instead of $C^{\infty}(L; E_L)$ and $C^{\infty}_c(R;\Omega^a M)$. We may also use the notation $C^{\infty}(E) = C^{\infty}(M; E)$ and $C^{\infty}_c(K; E) = C^{\infty}_c(M; E)$ if there is no danger of confusion. As usual, the trivial line bundle is omitted from this notation: the spaces of smooth (complex) functions and its compactly supported version are denoted by $C^{\infty}(M)$ and $C^{\infty}_c(M)$.

A similar notation is used for other section spaces. For instance, consider also the spaces of distributional (or generalized) sections of E, and its compactly supported version,

$$C^{-\infty}(M; E) = C^{\infty}_{c}(M; E^{*} \otimes \Omega)',$$

$$C^{-\infty}_{c}(M; E) = C^{\infty}(M; E^{*} \otimes \Omega)',$$

where we take the topological¹ dual spaces with the weak-* topology. A continuous injection $C^{\infty}(M; E) \subset C^{-\infty}(M; E)$ is defined by $\langle u, v \rangle = \int_{M} uv$ for $u \in C^{\infty}(M; E)$ and $v \in C_{c}^{\infty}(M; E^{*} \otimes \Omega)$, using the canonical pairing of Eand E^{*} . There is a similar continuous injection $C_{c}^{\infty}(M; E) \subset C_{c}^{-\infty}(M; E)$. If E is endowed with a Hermitian structure, we can also consider the Banach space $L^{\infty}(M; E)$ of its essentially bounded sections, whose norm is denoted by $\|\cdot\|_{L^{\infty}}$. If M is compact, then the equivalence class of $\|\cdot\|_{L^{\infty}}$ is independent of

¹This term is added to algebraic concepts on topological vector spaces to mean that they are compatible with the topologies. For instance, the *topological dual* V' consists of continuous linear maps $V \to \mathbb{C}$, an isomorphism is called *topological* if it is also a homeomorphism, and a direct sum is called *topological* if it has the product topology.

the Hermitian structure. Also, for any $m \in \mathbb{N}_0$, $C^m(M; E)$ denotes the space of C^m sections.

When explicitly indicated, we will also consider real objects with the same notation: real vector bundles, Euclidean structures, real tangent vectors and vector fields, real densities, real functions and distributions, etc.

2.2. **Operators on section spaces.** Let *E* and *F* be vector bundles over *M*, and let $A: C_c^{\infty}(M; E) \to C^{\infty}(M; F)$ be a continuous linear operator. The transpose of *A*,

$$A^{\mathsf{t}} \colon C^{-\infty}_{\mathsf{c}}(M; F^* \otimes \Omega) \to C^{-\infty}(M; E^* \otimes \Omega),$$

is given by $\langle A^{t}v, u \rangle = \langle v, Au \rangle$ for $u \in C_{c}^{\infty}(M; E)$ and $v \in C_{c}^{-\infty}(M; F^{*} \otimes \Omega)$. For instance, the transpose of the continuous dense injection $C_{c}^{\infty}(M; E^{*} \otimes \Omega) \subset C^{\infty}(M; E^{*} \otimes \Omega)$ is the continuous dense injection $C_{c}^{-\infty}(M; E) \subset C^{-\infty}(M; E)$. If there is a restriction $A^{t}: C_{c}^{\infty}(M; F^{*} \otimes \Omega) \to C^{\infty}(M; E^{*} \otimes \Omega)$, then $A^{tt}: C_{c}^{-\infty}(M; E) \to C^{-\infty}(M; F)$ is a continuous extension of A, also denoted by A. The Schwartz kernel, $K_{A} \in C^{-\infty}(M^{2}; F \boxtimes (E^{*} \otimes \Omega))$, is determined by the condition $\langle K_{A}, v \otimes u \rangle = \langle v, Au \rangle$ for $u \in C_{c}^{\infty}(M; E)$ and $v \in C_{c}^{\infty}(M; F^{*} \otimes \Omega)$. The mapping $A \mapsto K_{A}$ defines a bijection (the Schwartz kernel theorem)^{3}

$$L(C^{\infty}_{c}(M; E), C^{-\infty}(M; F)) \to C^{-\infty}(M^{2}; F \boxtimes (E^{*} \otimes \Omega)).$$

Note that

$$K_{A^{t}} = R^{*}K_{A} \in C^{-\infty}(M^{2}; (E^{*} \otimes \Omega) \boxtimes F)$$

where $R: M^2 \to M^2$ is given by R(x, y) = (y, x).

There are obvious versions of the construction of A^{t} and A^{tt} when both the domain and target of A have compact support, or no support restriction.

2.3. Differential operators. Let $\operatorname{Diff}(M) \subset \operatorname{End}(C^{\infty}(M))$ be the $C^{\infty}(M)$ -submodule and subalgebra of differential operators, filtered by the order. Every $\operatorname{Diff}^m(M)$ $(m \in \mathbb{N}_0)$ is $C^{\infty}(M)$ -spanned by all compositions of up to m tangent vector fields, where $\mathfrak{X}(M)$ is considered as the Lie algebra of derivations of $C^{\infty}(M)$. In particular, $\operatorname{Diff}^0(M) \equiv C^{\infty}(M)$. Any $A \in \operatorname{Diff}^m(M)$ has the following local description. Given a chart (U, x) of M with $x = (x^1, \ldots, x^n)$, let $\partial_J = \frac{\partial}{\partial x^J}$ and $D_J = \frac{1}{i}\partial_J$. For any multi-index $I = (i_1, \ldots, i_n) \in \mathbb{N}_0^n$, $\operatorname{let} \partial_I = \partial_1^{i_1} \cdots \partial_n^{i_n}$, $D^I = D_x^I = D_1^{i_1} \cdots D_n^{i_n}$ and $|I| = i_1 + \cdots + i_n$. Then $A = \sum_{|I| \leq m} a_I D^I$ on $C_c^{\infty}(U)$ for some local coefficients $a_I \in C^{\infty}(U)$.

On the other hand, let $P(T^*M) \subset C^{\infty}(T^*M)$ be the graded $C^{\infty}(M)$ module and subalgebra of functions on T^*M whose restriction to the fibers are polynomials, with the grading defined by the degree of the polynomials. In particular, $P^{[0]}(T^*M) \equiv C^{\infty}(M)$ and $P^{[1]}(T^*M) \equiv \mathfrak{X}(M)$. The principal symbol of any $X \in \mathfrak{X}(M) \subset \text{Diff}^1(M)$ is $\sigma_1(X) = iX \in P^{[1]}(T^*M)$. The

²We use the notation $\mathbb{N} = \mathbb{Z}^+$ and $\mathbb{N}_0 = \mathbb{N} \cup \{0\}$.

³For locally convex (topological vector) spaces X and Y, the notation L(X, Y) is used for the space of continuous linear operators $X \to Y$ with the topology of bounded convergence. End(X) := L(X, X) is an associative algebra with the operation of composition.

map σ_1 can be extended to a homomorphism of $C^{\infty}(M)$ -modules and algebras, σ : Diff $(M) \to P(T^*M)$, obtaining for every *m* the principal symbol surjection

(5)
$$\sigma_m : \operatorname{Diff}^m(M) \to P^{[m]}(T^*M),$$

with kernel $\operatorname{Diff}^{m-1}(M)$.

For vector bundles E and F over M, the above concepts can be extended by taking the $C^{\infty}(M)$ -tensor product with $C^{\infty}(M; F \otimes E^*)$, obtaining the filtered $C^{\infty}(M)$ -submodule

$$\operatorname{Diff}(M; E, F) \subset L(C^{\infty}(M; E), C^{\infty}(M; F)),$$

the graded $C^{\infty}(M)$ -submodule

$$P^{[m]}(T^*M; F \otimes E^*) \subset C^{\infty}(T^*M; \pi^*(F \otimes E^*)),$$

where $\pi\colon T^*M\to M$ is the vector bundle projection, and the principal symbol surjection

(6)
$$\sigma_m \colon \operatorname{Diff}^m(M; E, F) \to P^{[m]}(T^*M; F \otimes E^*),$$

with kernel $\operatorname{Diff}^{m-1}(M; E, F)$. Using local trivializations of E and F, any $A \in \operatorname{Diff}^m(M; E, F)$ has local expressions

$$A = \sum_{|I| \le m} a_I D^I \colon C^{\infty}_{c}(U, \mathbb{C}^l) \to C^{\infty}_{c}(U, \mathbb{C}^{l'}),$$

as above, where $l = \operatorname{rank} E$ and $l' = \operatorname{rank} F$, with local coefficients $a_I \in C^{\infty}(U; \mathbb{C}^{l'} \otimes \mathbb{C}^{l*})$. If E = F, then we use the notation $\operatorname{Diff}(M; E)$, which is also a filtered algebra with the operation of composition. Recall that $A \in \operatorname{Diff}^m(M; E, F)$ is called elliptic if $\sigma_m(A)(p, \xi) \in F_p \otimes E_p^* \equiv \operatorname{Hom}(E_p, F_p)$ is an isomorphism for all $p \in M$ and $0 \neq \xi \in T_p^*M$.

Using integration by parts, it follows that the class of differential operators is closed by transposition. So any $A \in \text{Diff}(M; E, F)$ defines continuous linear maps (Section 2.2),

$$\begin{split} A: C^{-\infty}(M;E) &\to C^{-\infty}(M;F), \\ A: C_{\rm c}^{-\infty}(M;E) \to C_{\rm c}^{-\infty}(M;F). \end{split}$$

2.4. Sobolev spaces. The Hilbert space $L^2(M; \Omega^{1/2})$ is the completion $C_c^{\infty}(M; \Omega^{1/2})$ with the scalar product $\langle u, v \rangle = \int_M u \bar{v}$. There is a continuous inclusion $L^2(M; \Omega^{1/2}) \subset C^{-\infty}(M; \Omega^{1/2})$.

Suppose first that M is compact. Then $L^2(M; \Omega^{1/2})$ is also a $C^{\infty}(M)$ -module. Thus the Sobolev space of order $m \in \mathbb{N}_0$,

(7)
$$H^m(M;\Omega^{\frac{1}{2}}) = \{ u \in L^2(M;\Omega^{\frac{1}{2}}) \mid \text{Diff}^m(M;\Omega^{\frac{1}{2}}) \, u \subset L^2(M;\Omega^{\frac{1}{2}}) \},\$$

is also a $C^{\infty}(M)$ -module. In particular, $H^0(M; \Omega^{1/2}) = L^2(M; \Omega^{1/2})$. By the elliptic estimate, an elliptic operator $P \in \text{Diff}^1(M; \Omega^{1/2})$ can be used to equip $H^m(M; \Omega^{1/2})$ with the Hilbert space structure defined by

(8)
$$\langle u, v \rangle_m = \langle (1 + P^*P)^m u, v \rangle.$$

The equivalence class of the corresponding norm $\|\cdot\|_m$ is independent of the choice of P. Thus $H^m(M; \Omega^{1/2})$ is a Hilbertian space with no canonical choice of a scalar product in general. Now, the Sobolev space of order -m is the Hilbertian space

(9)
$$H^{-m}(M;\Omega^{\frac{1}{2}}) = H^{m}(M;\Omega^{\frac{1}{2}})' \equiv \text{Diff}^{m}(M;\Omega^{\frac{1}{2}}) L^{2}(M;\Omega^{\frac{1}{2}}).$$

For any vector bundle E, the $C^{\infty}(M)$ -module $H^{\pm m}(M; E)$ can be defined as the $C^{\infty}(M)$ -tensor product of $H^{\pm m}(M; \Omega^{1/2})$ with $C^{\infty}(M; E \otimes \Omega^{-1/2})$; in particular, this defines $L^2(M; E)$. A Hermitian structure (\cdot, \cdot) on E and a non-vanishing smooth density ω on M can be used to define an obvious scalar product $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$ on $L^2(M; E)$. Using, moreover, an elliptic operator $P \in \text{Diff}^1(M; E)$, we get a scalar product $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_m$ on $H^m(M; E)$ like in (8), with norm $\|\cdot\|_m$. Indeed, this scalar product makes sense on $C^{\infty}(M; E)$ for any order $m \in \mathbb{R}$, where $(1 + P^*P)^m$ is defined by the functional calculus given by the spectral theorem. Then, taking the corresponding completion of $C^{\infty}(M; E)$, we get the Sobolev space $H^m(M; E)$ of order $m \in \mathbb{R}$. In particular, $H^{-m}(M; E) \equiv H^m(M; E^* \otimes \Omega)'$.

When M is not compact, any choice of P, (\cdot, \cdot) and ω can be used to equip $C_c^{\infty}(M; E)$ with a scalar product $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_m$ as above, and the corresponding Hilbert space completion can be denoted by $H^m(M; E)$; in particular, this defines $L^2(M; E) = H^0(M; E)$. But now the equivalence class of $\|\cdot\|_m$ (and therefore $H^m(M; E)$) depends on the choices. However, their compactly supported and their local versions, $H_c^m(M; E)$ and $H_{loc}^m(M; E)$, are independent of the choices involved. In particular, we have $L_c^2(M; E)$ and $L_{loc}^2(M; E)$. The formal adjoint of any differential operator is locally defined like in the compact case.

In any case, the notation $\|\cdot\|_{m,m'}$ (or $\|\cdot\|_m$ if m = m') is used for the induced norm of operators $H^m(M; E) \to H^{m'}(M; E)$ $(m, m' \in \mathbb{R})$. For example, when M is compact, any $A \in \text{Diff}^m(M; E)$ defines a bounded operator $A: H^{m+s}(M; E) \to H^m(M; E)$ for all $s \in \mathbb{R}$. Taking s = 0, we can consider A as a densely defined linear operator in $L^2(M; E)$ with domain $H^m(M; E)$. Its adjoint A^* in $L^2(M; E)$ is defined by the formal adjoint $A^* \in \text{Diff}^m(M; E)$, which is locally determined using integration by parts. Recall that A is called formally selfadjoint or symmetric if it is equal to its formal adjoint.

2.5. Differential complexes. A topological (cochain) complex (C, d) is a cochain complex, where C is a graded topological vector space and d is continuous. Then the cohomology $H(C, d) = \ker d/\operatorname{im} d$ has an induced topology, whose maximal Hausdorff quotient, $\overline{H}(C, d) := H(C, d)/\overline{0} \equiv \ker d/\operatorname{im} d$, is called the *reduced cohomology*. The elements in H(C, d) and $\overline{H}(C, d)$ defined by some $u \in \ker d$ will be denoted by [u] and $\overline{[u]}$, respectively. The continuous cochain maps between topological complexes induce continuous homomorphisms between the corresponding (reduced) cohomologies. Topological graded differential algebras can be similarly defined by assuming that their product is continuous.

Recall that a differential complex of order m is a topological complex of the form $(C^{\infty}(M; E), d)$, where $E = \bigoplus_{r} E^{r}$ and $d = \bigoplus_{r} d_{r}$, for a finite sequence of differential operators of the same order m,

$$C^{\infty}(M; E^0) \xrightarrow{d_0} C^{\infty}(M; E^1) \xrightarrow{d_1} \cdots \xrightarrow{d_{N-1}} C^{\infty}(M; E^N).$$

The compactly supported version $(C_c^{\infty}(M; E), d)$ may be also considered. Negative or decreasing degrees may be also considered without essential change. Such a differential complex is called *elliptic* if the symbol sequence,

$$0 \to E_p^0 \xrightarrow{\sigma_m(d_0)(p,\xi)} E_p^1 \xrightarrow{\sigma_m(d_1)(p,\xi)} \cdots \xrightarrow{\sigma_m(d_{N-1})(p,\xi)} E_p^N \to 0,$$

is exact for all $p \in M$ and $0 \neq \xi \in T_p^*M$.

Suppose that every E^r is equipped with a Hermitian structure, and M with a distinguished non-vanishing smooth density. Then the formal adjoint $\delta = d^*$ also defines a differential complex, giving rise to symmetric operators $D = d + \delta$ and $\Delta = D^2 = d\delta + \delta d$ (a generalized Laplacian) in the Hilbert space $L^2(M; E)$. The differential complex d is elliptic if and only if the differential complex δ is elliptic, and if and only if the differential operator D (or Δ) is elliptic. If d is elliptic and M is closed, then D and Δ have discrete spectra, giving rise to a topological and orthogonal decomposition (a generalized Hodge decomposition)

(10)
$$C^{\infty}(M; E) = \ker \Delta \oplus \operatorname{im} \delta \oplus \operatorname{im} d,$$

which induces a topological isomorphism (a Hodge isomorphism)

(11)
$$H(C^{\infty}(M; E), d) \cong \ker \Delta$$

Thus $H(C^{\infty}(M; E), d)$ is of finite dimension and Hausdorff.

2.6. Novikov differential complex. The most typical example of elliptic differential complex is given by the de Rham derivative d on $C^{\infty}(M; \Lambda)$, defining the de Rham cohomology $H^*(M) = H^*(M; \mathbb{C})$. Suppose that M is endowed with a Riemannian metric g, which defines a Hermitian structure on TM. Then we have the de Rham coderivative $\delta = d^*$, and the symmetric operators $D = d + \delta$ and $\Delta = D^2 = d\delta + \delta d$ (the Laplacian).

With more generality, take any closed $\theta \in C^{\infty}(M; \Lambda^1)$. For the sake of simplicity, assume that θ is real. Let $V \in \mathfrak{X}(M)$ be determined by $g(V, \cdot) = \theta$, let \mathcal{L}_V denote the Lie derivative with respect to V, and let $\theta_{\perp} = -(\theta \wedge)^* = -\iota_V$. Then we have the *Novikov operators* defined by θ , depending on $z \in \mathbb{C}$,

$$\begin{aligned} d_z &= d + z \,\theta \wedge, \quad \delta_z = d_z^* = \delta - \bar{z} \,\theta_{\perp}, \\ D_z &= d_z + \delta_z = D + \Re z \,R_\theta + i \,\Im z \,L_\theta, \\ \Delta_z &= D_z^2 = d_z \delta_z + \delta_z d_z = \Delta + \Re z \,(\mathcal{L}_V + \mathcal{L}_V^*) - i \,\Im z \,(\mathcal{L}_V - \mathcal{L}_V^*) + |z|^2 |\theta|^2, \\ \text{where, for } \alpha \in C^\infty(M; \Lambda^r M), \end{aligned}$$

 $L_{\theta}\alpha = \theta \cdot \alpha = \theta \wedge \alpha + \theta \lrcorner \alpha, \quad R_{\theta}\alpha = (-1)^r \alpha \cdot \theta = \theta \wedge \alpha - \theta \lrcorner \alpha.$

The subindex "M" may be added to this notation if needed. Here, the dot denotes Clifford multiplication defined via the linear identity $\Lambda M \equiv \operatorname{Cl}(T^*M)$.

We may write $\theta \cdot = L_{\theta}$. The differential operator $\mathcal{L}_V + \mathcal{L}_V^*$ is of order zero, and $\mathcal{L}_V - \mathcal{L}_V^*$ is of order one. The differential complex $(C^{\infty}(M; \Lambda), d_z)$ is elliptic; indeed, it has the same principal symbol as the de Rham differential complex. Actually, Δ_z is a generalized Laplacian [9, Definition 2.2], and therefore D_z is a generalized Dirac operator, and d_z is a generalized Dirac complex. The terms *Novikov differential complex* and *Novikov cohomology* are used for $(C^{\infty}(M; \Lambda), d_z)$ and its cohomology, $H_z^*(M) = H_z^*(M; \mathbb{C})$.

If θ is exact, say $\theta = dF$ for some \mathbb{R} -valued $F \in C^{\infty}(M)$, then the Novikov operators are called *Witten operators*; in particular, $d_z = e^{-zF} de^{zF}$ and $\delta_z = e^{\overline{z}F} \delta e^{-\overline{z}F}$. Thus the multiplication operator e^{zF} on $C^{\infty}(M; \Lambda)$ induces an isomorphism $H_z^*(M) \cong H^*(M)$ in this case.

In the general case, the above kind of argument shows that the isomorphism class of $H_z^*(M)$ depends only on $[\theta] \in H^1(M)$. We can also take a regular covering $\pi : \widetilde{M} \to M$ so that the lift $\widetilde{\theta} = \pi^* \theta$ is exact, say $\widetilde{\theta} = dF$ for some \mathbb{R} valued $F \in C^{\infty}(\widetilde{M})$. Thus we get the Witten derivative $d_{\widetilde{M},z} = e^{-zF} d_{\widetilde{M}} e^{zF}$ on $C^{\infty}(\widetilde{M}; \Lambda)$, which corresponds to the Novikov derivative $d_{M,z}$ on $C^{\infty}(M; \Lambda)$ via π^* .

For any smooth map $\phi: M \to M$, take a lift $\tilde{\phi}: \widetilde{M} \to \widetilde{M}$; i.e., $\pi \tilde{\phi} = \phi \pi$. Then $\tilde{\phi}_z^* = e^{-zF} \tilde{\phi}^* e^{zF} = e^{z(\tilde{\phi}^*F-F)} \tilde{\phi}^*$ is an endomorphism of Witten differential complex $(C^{\infty}(\widetilde{M}; \Lambda), d_{\widetilde{M}, z})$, which can be called a *Witten perturbation* of $\tilde{\phi}^*$. For all $\gamma \in \Gamma$, we have $T^*_{\gamma}(\tilde{\phi}^*F - F) = \tilde{\phi}^*F - F$, obtaining $T^*_{\gamma}\tilde{\phi}^*_z = \tilde{\phi}^*_z T^*_{\gamma}$. Therefore $\tilde{\phi}^*_z$ induces an endomorphism ϕ^*_z of Witten differential complex $d_{M,z}$ on $C^{\infty}(M; \Lambda)$, which can be considered as a *Novikov perturbation* of ϕ^* . This ϕ^*_z depends on the choice of the lift $\tilde{\phi}$ of ϕ . However, any flow $\phi = \{\phi^t\}$ has a unique lift to a flow $\tilde{\phi} = \{\tilde{\phi}^t\}$ on \widetilde{M} , giving rise to a canonical choice of ϕ^{t*}_z , called the *Novikov perturbation* of ϕ^{t*} .

If M is oriented, then

(12)
$$\theta_{\perp} = (-1)^{nr+n+1} \star \theta \wedge \star, \quad \delta = (-1)^{nr+n+1} \star d \star,$$

on $C^{\infty}(M; \Lambda^r)$, using the Hodge operator \star on ΛM . So

(13)
$$\delta_z = (-1)^{nr+n+1} \star d_{-\bar{z}} \star .$$

3. Preliminaries on bounded geometry

The concepts recalled here become relevant when M is not compact. Equip M with a Riemannian metric g, and let ∇ denote its Levi-Civita connection, R its curvature, and $\operatorname{inj}_M : M \to \mathbb{R}^+$ its injectivity radius function. Suppose that M is connected, obtaining an induced distance function d. Actually, in the non-connected case, we can take $d(p,q) = \infty$ if p and q belong to different connected components. Observe that M is complete if $\operatorname{inj}_M > 0$. For r > 0, $p \in M$ and $S \subset M$, let B(p,r) and $\overline{B}(p,r)$ denote the open and closed r-balls centered at p, and let $\operatorname{Pen}(S,r)$ and $\operatorname{Pen}(S,r)$ denote the open and closed r-penumbras of S (defined by the conditions $d(\cdot, S) < r$ and $d(\cdot, S) \leq r$, respectively). We may add the subindex "M" to this notation if needed, or a subindex "a" if we are referring to a family of Riemannian manifolds M_a .

3.1. Manifolds and vector bundles of bounded geometry. It is said that M is of bounded geometry if $\inf_M > 0$ and $\sup_M |\nabla^m R| < \infty$ for every $m \in \mathbb{N}_0$. This concept has the following chart description.

Theorem 3.2 (Eichhorn [23]; see also [42, 45, 46]). *M* is of bounded geometry if and only if, for some open ball $B \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ centered at 0, there are normal coordinates $y_p: V_p \to B$ at every $p \in M$ such that the corresponding Christoffel symbols Γ^i_{jk} , as a family of functions on *B* parametrized by *i*, *j*, *k* and *p*, lie in a bounded set of the Fréchet space $C^{\infty}(B)$. This equivalence holds as well replacing the Christoffel symbols with the metric coefficients g_{ij} .

Remark 3.3. Any non-connected Riemannian manifold of bounded geometry can be considered as a family of Riemannian manifolds (the connected components), which are of *equi-bounded geometry* in the sense that they satisfy the condition of bounded geometry with the same bounds. Conversely, any disjoint union of Riemannian manifolds of equi-bounded geometry is of bounded geometry.

Assume that M is of bounded geometry and consider the charts $y_p: V_p \to B$ given by Theorem 3.2. The radius of B will be denoted by r_0 .

Proposition 3.4 (Schick [45, Theorem A.22], [46, Proposition 3.3]). For every multi-index I, the function $|\partial_I(y_q y_p^{-1})|$ is bounded on $y_p(V_p \cap V_q)$, uniformly on $p, q \in M$.

Proposition 3.5 (Shubin [47, Appendices A1.2 and A1.3]; see also [46, Proposition 3.2]). For any $0 < 2r \le r_0$, there are a subset $\{p_k\} \subset M$ and some $N \in \mathbb{N}$ such that the balls $B(p_k, r)$ cover M, and every intersection of N + 1 sets $B(p_k, 2r)$ is empty. Moreover, there is a partition of unity $\{f_k\}$ subordinated to the open covering $\{B(p_k, 2r)\}$, which is bounded in the Fréchet space⁴ $C_{ub}^{\infty}(M)$.

A vector bundle E of rank l over M is said to be of bounded geometry when it is equipped with a family of local trivializations over the charts (V_p, y_p) , for small enough r_0 , with corresponding defining cocycle $a_{pq}: V_p \cap V_q \to \operatorname{GL}(\mathbb{C}, l) \subset \mathbb{C}^{l^2}$, such that, for every multi-index I, the function $|\partial_I(a_{pq}y_p^{-1})|$ is bounded on $y_p(V_p \cap V_q)$, uniformly on $p, q \in M$. When referring to local trivializations of a vector bundle of bounded geometry, we always mean that they satisfy the above condition. If the corresponding defining cocycle is valued in U(l), then E is said to be of bounded geometry as a Hermitian vector bundle.

- **Example 3.6.** (1) If E is associated to the principal O(n)-bundle P of orthonormal frames of M and any unitary representation of O(n), then it is of bounded geometry in a canonical way. In particular, this applies to TM and ΛM .
 - (2) The properties of 1 can be extended to the case where E is associated to any reduction Q of P with structural group $H \subset O(n)$, and any unitary representation of H.

⁴The definition of $C^{\infty}_{ub}(M)$ is given in Section 3.7.

(3) The condition of bounded geometry is preserved by operations of vector bundles induced by operations of vector spaces, like dual vector bundles, direct sums, tensor products, exterior products, etc.

3.7. Uniform spaces. For every $m \in \mathbb{N}_0$, a function $u \in C^m(M)$ is said to be C^m-uniformly bounded if there is some $C_m \geq 0$ with $|\nabla^{m'}u| \leq C_m$ on M for all $m' \leq m$. These functions form the uniform C^m space $C^m_{ub}(M)$, which is a Banach space with the norm $\|\cdot\|_{C_{ub}^m}$ defined by the best constant C_m . As usual, the super-index "m" may be removed from this notation if m = 0, and we have $C_{\rm ub}(M) = C(M) \cap L^{\infty}(M)$. Equivalently, we may take the norm $\|\cdot\|'_{C^m_{ub}}$ defined by the best constant $C'_m \geq 0$ such that $|\partial_I(uy_p^{-1})| \leq C'_m$ on B for all $p \in M$ and $|I| \leq m$; in fact, by Proposition 3.4, it is enough to consider any subset of points p so that $\{V_p\}$ covers M. The uniform C^{∞} space is $C^{\infty}_{\rm ub}(M) = \bigcap_m C^m_{\rm ub}(M)$, with the inverse limit topology, called *uniform* C^{∞} topology. It consists of the functions $u \in C^{\infty}(M)$ such that all functions uy_n^{-1} lie in a bounded set of $C^{\infty}(B)$, which are said to be C^{∞} -uniformly bounded. Of course, if M is compact, then the C_{ub}^m topology is just the C^m topology, and the notation $\|\cdot\|_{C^m}$ and $\|\cdot\|'_{C^m}$ is preferred. On the other hand, the definition of uniform spaces with covariant derivatives can be also considered for non-complete Riemannian manifolds.

For a Hermitian vector bundle E of bounded geometry over M, the uniform C^m space $C^m_{ub}(M; E)$, of C^m -uniformly bounded sections, can be defined by introducing $\|\cdot\|'_{C^m_{ub}}$ like the case of functions, using local trivializations of E to consider every uy_p^{-1} in $C^m(B, \mathbb{C}^l)$ for all $u \in C^m(M; E)$. Then, as above, we get the uniform C^∞ space $C^\infty_{ub}(M; E)$ of C^∞ -uniformly bounded sections, which are the sections $u \in C^\infty(M; E)$ such that all functions uy_p^{-1} define a bounded set of $C^\infty(B; \mathbb{C}^l)$, equipped with the uniform C^∞ topology. In particular, $\mathfrak{X}_{ub}(M) := C^\infty_{ub}(M; TM)$ is a $C^\infty_{ub}(M)$ -submodule and Lie subalgebra of $\mathfrak{X}(M)$. Observe that

(....)

(14)
$$C^m_{\rm ub}(M) = \{ u \in C^m(M) \mid \mathfrak{X}_{\rm ub}(M) \stackrel{(m)}{\cdots} \mathfrak{X}_{\rm ub}(M) \, u \subset L^\infty(M) \}.$$

Let $\mathfrak{X}_{com}(M) \subset \mathfrak{X}(M)$ be the subset of complete vector fields.

Proposition 3.8. We have $\mathfrak{X}_{ub}(M) \subset \mathfrak{X}_{com}(M)$.

Proof. Let $X \in \mathfrak{X}_{ub}(M)$. The maximal domain of the local flow ϕ of X is an open neighborhood Ω of $M \times \{0\}$ in $M \times \mathbb{R}$. By the Picard–Lindelöf theorem (see, e.g., [29, Theorem II.1.1]) and the C^{∞} -uniform boundedness of X, there is some $\alpha > 0$ such that $\{p\} \times (-\alpha, \alpha) \subset \Omega$ for all $p \in M$. So $\Omega = M \times \mathbb{R}$, since ϕ is a local flow.

3.9. Differential operators of bounded geometry. Like in Section 2.3, by using $\mathfrak{X}_{ub}(M)$ and $C^{\infty}_{ub}(M)$ instead of $\mathfrak{X}(M)$ and $C^{\infty}(M)$, we get the filtered subalgebra and $C^{\infty}_{ub}(M)$ -submodule $\text{Diff}_{ub}(M) \subset \text{Diff}(M)$ of differential

⁵Here, the subindex "ub" is used instead of the common subindex "b" to avoid similarities with the notation of b-calculus used in [7].

operators of bounded geometry. Let $P_{\rm ub}(T^*M) \subset P(T^*M)$ be the graded subalgebra generated by $P_{\rm ub}^{[0]}(T^*M) \equiv C_{\rm ub}^{\infty}(M)$ and $P_{\rm ub}^{[1]}(T^*M) \equiv \mathfrak{X}_{\rm ub}(M)$, which is also a graded $C_{\rm ub}^{\infty}(M)$ -submodule. Then (5) restricts to a surjection σ_m : $\operatorname{Diff}_{\rm ub}^m(M) \to P_{\rm ub}^{[m]}(T^*M)$ whose kernel is $\operatorname{Diff}_{\rm ub}^{m-1}(M)$. These concepts can be extended to vector bundles of bounded geometry E and F over Mby taking the $C_{\rm ub}^{\infty}(M)$ -tensor product with $C_{\rm ub}^{\infty}(M; F \otimes E^*)$, obtaining the filtered $C_{\rm ub}^{\infty}(M)$ -modules $\operatorname{Diff}_{\rm ub}(M; E, F)$ (or $\operatorname{Diff}_{\rm ub}(M; E)$ if E = F) and $P_{\rm ub}(T^*M; F \otimes E^*)$, and the surjective restriction

$$\sigma_m \colon \operatorname{Diff}^m_{\operatorname{ub}}(M; E, F) \to P^{[m]}_{\operatorname{ub}}(T^*M; F \otimes E^*)$$

of (6), whose kernel is $\operatorname{Diff}_{ub}^{m-1}(M; E, F)$. Bounded geometry of differential operators is preserved by compositions and by taking transposes, and by taking formal adjoints in the case of Hermitian vector bundles of bounded geometry; in particular, $\operatorname{Diff}_{ub}(M; E)$ is a filtered subalgebra of $\operatorname{Diff}(M; E)$. Using local trivializations of E and F over the charts (V_p, y_p) , we get a local description of any element of $\operatorname{Diff}_{ub}^m(M; E, F)$ by requiring the local coefficients to define a bounded subset of the Fréchet space $C^{\infty}(B, \mathbb{C}^{l'} \otimes \mathbb{C}^{l*})$, where l and l' are the ranks of E and F. Using the norms $\|\cdot\|'_{C_{ub}^m}$, it easily follows that every $A \in \operatorname{Diff}_{ub}^m(M; E, F)$ defines bounded operators $A: C_{ub}^{m+s}(M; E) \to C_{ub}^s(M; F)$. $(s \in \mathbb{N}_0)$, which induce a continuous operator $A: C_{ub}^{\infty}(M; E) \to C_{ub}^\infty(M; F)$.

- **Example 3.10.** (i) In Example 3.61, the Levi-Civita connection ∇ induces a connection of bounded geometry on E, also denoted by ∇ . In particular, ∇ itself is of bounded geometry on TM, and induces a connection ∇ of bounded geometry on ΛM . This holds as well for the connection on E induced by any other Riemannian connection of bounded geometry on TM.
 - (ii) In Example 3.62, if a Riemannian connection of bounded geometry on TM is given by a connection on Q, then the induced connection on E is of bounded geometry.
- (iii) In Example 3.63, bounded geometry of connections is preserved by taking the induced connections in the indicated operations with vector bundles of bounded geometry.
- (iv) The standard expression of the de Rham derivative d on local coordinates shows that it is of bounded geometry, and therefore δ is also of bounded geometry.

Let E and F be Hermitian vector bundles of bounded geometry. Then any unitary connection ∇ of bounded geometry on E can be used to define an equivalent norm $\|\cdot\|_{C^m_{ub}}$ on every Banach space $C^m_{ub}(M; E)$, like in the case of $C^m_{ub}(M)$.

It is said that $A \in \text{Diff}^m(M; E, F)$ is uniformly elliptic if there is some $C \geq 1$ such that, for all $p \in M$ and $\xi \in T_p^*M$,

$$C^{-1}|\xi|^m \le |\sigma_m(A)(p,\xi)| \le C|\xi|^m.$$

This condition is independent of the choice of the Hermitian metrics of bounded geometry on E and F. Any $A \in \text{Diff}_{ub}^m(M; E, F)$ satisfies the second inequality.

3.11. Sobolev spaces of manifolds of bounded geometry. For any Hermitian vector bundle E of bounded geometry over M, any choice of a uniformly elliptic $P \in \text{Diff}_{ub}^1(M; E)$, besides the Riemannian density and the Hermitian structure, can be used to define the Sobolev space $H^m(M; E)$ $(m \in \mathbb{R})$ (Section 2.4). Any choice of P defines the same Hilbertian space $H^m(M; E)$, which is a $C_{ub}^{\infty}(M)$ -module. Every $A \in \text{Diff}_{ub}^m(M; E, F)$ defines bounded operators $A: H^{m+s}(M; E) \to H^s(M; F)$ $(s \in \mathbb{R})$, which induce continuous maps $A: H^{\pm\infty}(M; E) \to H^{\pm\infty}(M; F)$.

Proposition 3.12 (Roe [42, Proposition 2.8]). If m' > m + n/2, then we have $H^{m'}(M; E) \subset C^m_{ub}(M; E)$, continuously. Thus $H^{\infty}(M; E) \subset C^{\infty}_{ub}(M; E)$, continuously.

3.13. Schwartz kernels on manifolds of bounded geometry. Let E and F be Hermitian vector bundles of bounded geometry over M.

Proposition 3.14 (Roe [42, Proposition 2.9]). The Schwartz kernel mapping, $A \mapsto K_A$, defines a continuous linear map

$$L(H^{-\infty}(M; E), H^{\infty}(M; F)) \to C^{\infty}_{ub}(M; F \boxtimes (E^* \otimes \Omega)).$$

Remark 3.15. Let $A \in L(H^{-\infty}(M; E), H^{\infty}(M; F))$ and r > 0. Obviously,

$$\operatorname{supp} K_A \subset \{(p,q) \in M^2 \mid d(p,q) \le r\}$$

if and only if, for all $u \in H^{-\infty}(M; E)$,

 $\operatorname{supp} Au \subset \overline{\operatorname{Pen}}(\operatorname{supp} u, r).$

Recall that a function $\psi \in C(\mathbb{R})$ is called *rapidly decreasing* if, for all $k \in \mathbb{N}_0$, there is some $C_k \geq 0$ so that $|\psi(x)| \leq C_k (1+|x|)^{-k}$. They form a Fréchet space denoted by $\mathcal{R} = \mathcal{R}(\mathbb{R})$, with the best constants C_k as semi-norms. If $P \in$ Diff^m_{ub}(M; E) is uniformly elliptic and formally selfadjoint, then it is selfadjoint as an unbounded operator in the Hilbert space $L^2(M; E)$, and the functional calculus given by the spectral theorem defines a continuous linear map

$$\mathcal{R} \to L(H^{-\infty}(M; E), H^{\infty}(M; E)), \quad \psi \mapsto \psi(P).$$

Thus the linear map

(15)
$$\mathcal{R} \to C^{\infty}_{\mathrm{ub}}(M; E \boxtimes (E^* \otimes \Omega)), \quad \psi \mapsto K_{\psi(P)},$$

is continuous by Proposition 3.14, see [42, Proposition 2.10].

For any closed real $\theta \in C^{\infty}_{ub}(M; \Lambda^1)$ and $z \in \mathbb{C}$, we have the corresponding Novikov operators, $D_z \in \text{Diff}^1_{ub}(M; \Lambda)$ and $\Delta_z \in \text{Diff}^2_{ub}(M; \Lambda)$ (Section 2.6), which are uniformly elliptic and formally selfadjoint; indeed, D_z is a generalized Dirac operator. Thus, for the symmetric hyperbolic equation

$$\partial_t \alpha_t = i D_z \alpha_t, \quad \alpha_0 = \alpha,$$

on any open subset of M and with t in any interval containing 0, any solution satisfies the finite propagation speed property, see the proof of [14, Proposition 1.1] (see also [13, Theorem 1.4] and the proof of [43, Proposition 7.20]),

(16)
$$\operatorname{supp} \alpha_t \subset \operatorname{Pen}(\operatorname{supp} \alpha, |t|).$$

In particular, for the Novikov wave operator e^{itD_z} and any $\alpha \in C^{\infty}(M; \Lambda)$, $\alpha_t = e^{itD_z}\alpha$ satisfies (16). On the other hand, using the expression of the inverse Fourier transform, we get

(17)
$$\psi(D_z) = (2\pi)^{-1} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} e^{i\xi D_z} \hat{\psi}(\xi) d\xi$$

According to Remark 3.15, it follows from (16) and (17) that, for all r > 0,

(18)
$$\operatorname{supp} \hat{\psi} \subset [-r, r] \Rightarrow \operatorname{supp} K_{\psi(D_z)} \subset \{(p, q) \in M^2 \mid d(p, q) \le r\}.$$

For $\psi \in \mathcal{R}$, the operator $\psi(D_z)$ is smoothing and we may use the notation $k_z = k_{\psi,z} = K_{\psi(D_z)}$. We may also use the notation $k_{u,z} = k_{\psi_u,z}$ for any family of functions $\psi_u \in \mathcal{R}$ depending on a parameter u. For instance, for $\psi_u(x) = e^{-ux^2}$ (u > 0), we get the Novikov heat kernel $k_{u,z} = K_{e^{-u\Delta_z}}$.

3.16. Maps of bounded geometry. For $a \in \{1, 2\}$, let M_a be a Riemannian manifold of bounded geometry, of dimension n_a . Consider a normal chart $y_{a,p} \colon V_{a,p} \to B_a$ at every $p \in M_a$ satisfying the statement of Theorem 3.2. Let r_a denote the radius of B_a . For $0 < r \leq r_a$, let $B_{a,r} \subset \mathbb{R}^{n_a}$ denote the ball centered at the origin with radius r. We have $B_a(p,r) = y_{a,p}^{-1}(B_{a,r})$.

A smooth map $\phi: M_1 \to M_2$ is said to be of *bounded geometry* if, for some $0 < r < r_1$ and all $p \in M_1$, we have $\phi(B_1(p,r)) \subset V_{2,\phi(p)}$, and the compositions $y_{2,\phi(p)}\phi y_{1,p}^{-1}$ define a bounded family of the Fréchet space $C^{\infty}(B_{1,r}, \mathbb{R}^{n_2})$. This condition is preserved by composition of maps. The family of smooth maps $M_1 \to M_2$ of bounded geometry is denoted by $C^{\infty}_{\text{ub}}(M_1, M_2)$.

For $m \in \mathbb{N}_0$ and $\phi \in C^{\infty}_{ub}(M_1, M_2)$, using $\|\cdot\|'_{C^m_{ub}}$, we easily get that ϕ^* induces a bounded homomorphism

(19)
$$\phi^* \colon C^m_{\rm ub}(M_2;\Lambda) \to C^m_{\rm ub}(M_1;\Lambda),$$

obtaining a continuous homomorphism

(20)
$$\phi^* \colon C^{\infty}_{ub}(M_2; \Lambda) \to C^{\infty}_{ub}(M_1; \Lambda).$$

On the other hand, recall that ϕ is called *uniformly metrically proper* if, for any $s \ge 0$, there is some $t_s \ge 0$, so that, for all $p, q \in M_1$,

$$d_2(\phi(p), \phi(q)) \le s \Rightarrow d_1(p, q) \le t_s.$$

For $0 < 2r \le r_1, r_2$, take $\{p_{1,k}\} \subset M_1, \{p_{2,l}\} \subset M_2$ and $N \in \mathbb{N}$ satisfying the statement of Proposition 3.5. Then $\phi \in C^{\infty}(M_1, M_2)$ is uniformly metrically proper if and only if there is some $N' \in \mathbb{N}$ such that every set $\phi^{-1}(B_2(p_{2,l}, r))$ meets at most N' sets $B_1(p_{1,k}, r)$. Using $\|\cdot\|'_m$ on $H^m(M_a; \Lambda)$ (Section 3.7),

it follows that, if ϕ is of bounded geometry and uniformly metrically proper, then ϕ^* induces a bounded homomorphism

(21)
$$\phi^* \colon H^m(M_2; \Lambda) \to H^m(M_1; \Lambda)$$

for all m, obtaining induced continuous homomorphisms

(22)
$$\phi^* \colon H^{\pm \infty}(M_2; \Lambda) \to H^{\pm \infty}(M_1; \Lambda).$$

If $\phi \in \text{Diffeo}(M_1, M_2)$, and both ϕ and ϕ^{-1} are of bounded geometry, then ϕ is uniformly metrically proper.

3.17. Smooth families of bounded geometry. Consider the notation of Sections 3.1, 3.7 and 3.9. Let T be a manifold, and let $\operatorname{pr}_1: M \times T \to M$ denote the first factor projection. A section $u \in C^{\infty}(M \times T; \operatorname{pr}_1^* E)$ is called a smooth family of smooth sections of E (parametrized by T), and we may use the notation $u = \{u_t \mid t \in T\} \subset C^{\infty}(M; E)$, where $u_t = u(\cdot, t)$. Its T-support is $\{t \in T \mid u_t \neq 0\}$. If the T-support is compact, then u is said to be T-compactly supported. It is said that u is T-locally C^{∞} -uniformly bounded if any $t \in T$ is in some chart (O, z) of T such that the maps $u(y_p \times z)^{-1}$ define a bounded subset of the Fréchet space $C^{\infty}(B \times z(O), \mathbb{C}^l)$, using local trivializations of Eover the normal charts (V_p, y_p) .

In particular, we can consider smooth families of \mathbb{C} -valued functions, tangent vector fields and sections of $C^{\infty}(M; F \otimes E^*)$, which can be used to define a smooth family of differential operators, $A = \{A_t \mid t \in T\} \subset \text{Diff}(M; E, F)$, like in Section 2.3. The *T*-support of *A* and the property of being *T*-compactly supported is defined like in the case of sections. Adapting Section 3.9, if the smooth families of functions, tangent vector fields and sections used to describe *A* are *T*-locally C^{∞} -uniformly bounded, then it is said that *A* is of *T*-local bounded geometry.

On the other hand, with the notation of Section 3.16, a smooth map $\phi: M_1 \times T \to M_2$ is called a *smooth family of smooth maps* $M_1 \to M_2$ (parametrized by T). It may be denoted by $\phi = \{\phi^t \mid t \in T\}$, where $\phi^t = \phi(\cdot, t): M_1 \to M_2$. It is said that ϕ is of *T*-local bounded geometry if every $t \in T$ is in some chart (O, z) of T such that, for some $0 < r < r_1$, we have $\phi(B_1(p, r) \times O) \subset V_{2,\phi(p)}$ for all $p \in M_1$, and the compositions $y_{2,\phi(p)}\phi(y_{1,p} \times z)^{-1}$, for $p \in M_1$, define a bounded subset of the Fréchet space $C^{\infty}(B_{1,r} \times z(O), \mathbb{R}^{n_2})$. The composition of smooth families of maps parametrized by T has the obvious sense and preserves the *T*-local bounded geometry condition. In particular, for a flow $\phi = \{\phi^t \mid t \in \mathbb{R}\} = \{\phi^t\}$ on M, it makes sense to consider the \mathbb{R} -local bounded geometry condition. The following result complements Proposition 3.8.

Proposition 3.18. Let $X \in \mathfrak{X}_{com}(M)$ with flow ϕ . Then $X \in \mathfrak{X}_{ub}(M)$ if and only if ϕ is of \mathbb{R} -local bounded geometry.

Proof. The "if" part is obvious because $X_p = \phi_*(0_p, \frac{d}{dt}(0))$ for all $p \in M$, where 0_p denotes the zero element of T_pM .

Let us prove the "only if" part. First, given $0 < r < r_0$ and $t_0 \in \mathbb{R}$, since |X| is uniformly bounded on M, there is some $\epsilon > 0$ such that $\phi^t(B(p,r)) \subset$

 $B(\phi^{t_0}(p), r_0) = V_p$ for all $p \in M$ if $t \in O = (t_0 - \epsilon, t_0 + \epsilon)$; in particular, the compositions $y_{\phi^{t_0}(p)}\phi(y_p \times \mathrm{id}_O)^{-1}$, for all $p \in M$, define a bounded subset of $C(B_r \times O, \mathbb{R}^n)$. Then the argument of the proof of [29, Theorem V.3.1] shows that the maps $y_{\phi^{t_0}(p)}\phi(y_p \times \mathrm{id}_O)^{-1}$, for all $p \in M$, define a bounded subset of $C^1(B_r \times O, \mathbb{R}^n)$, where $B_r \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ is the ball centered at the origin of radius r. Continuing by induction on m, it also follows, like in the proofs of [29, Corollary V.3.2 and Theorem V.4.1], that the maps $y_{\phi^{t_0}(p)}\phi(y_p \times \mathrm{id}_O)^{-1}$, for all $p \in M$, define a bounded subset of $C^m(B_r \times O, \mathbb{R}^n)$ for all m.

4. Preliminaries on foliations

Standard references on foliations are [30, 31, 10, 26, 11, 12, 49].

4.1. Foliations. Recall that a (smooth) foliation \mathcal{F} on manifold M, with codimension codim $\mathcal{F} = n'$ and dimension dim $\mathcal{F} = n''$, can be described by a foliated atlas of M, which consists of charts (U_k, x_k) of the smooth structure of M, called foliated charts or foliated coordinates, with

(23)
$$x_k = (x'_k, x''_k) \colon U_k \to x_k(U_k) = \Sigma_k \times B''_k \subset \mathbb{R}^{n'} \times \mathbb{R}^{n''} \equiv \mathbb{R}^n,$$

such that Σ_k is open in $\mathbb{R}^{n'}$ and B''_k is an open ball in $\mathbb{R}^{n''}$, and the corresponding changes of coordinates are locally of the form

(24)
$$x_l x_k^{-1}(u, v) = (h_{lk}(u), g_{lk}(u, v)).$$

The notation

$$x_k = (x_k^1, \dots, x_k^n) = (x_k'^1, \dots, x_k'^{n'}, x_k'^{n'+1}, \dots, x_k'^{n'})$$

will be also used. In the case of codimension one, the notation $(x, y) = (x, y^1, \ldots, y^{n-1})$ will be often used instead of (x', x''). It may be also said that (M, \mathcal{F}) is a *foliated manifold*. The open sets U_k and the projections $x'_k \colon U_k \to \Sigma_k$ are said to be *distinguished*, and the fibers of x'_k are called *plaques*. The smooth submanifolds $x''_k^{-1}(v) \subset U_k$ ($v \in B''_k$) are called *local transversals* defined by (U_k, x_k) , which can be identified with Σ_k via x'_k . All possible plaques form a base of a finer topology on M, becoming a smooth manifold of dimension n'' with the obviously induced charts whose connected components are called *leaves*. The leaf through any point p may be denoted by L_p . Foliations on manifolds with boundary are similarly defined, where the boundary is tangent or transverse to the leaves. The \mathcal{F} -saturation of a subset $S \subset M$, denoted by $\mathcal{F}(S)$, is the union of leaves that meet S.

If a smooth map $\phi: M' \to M$ is transverse to (the leaves of) \mathcal{F} , then the connected components of the inverse images $\phi^{-1}(L)$ of the leaves L of \mathcal{F} are the leaves of a smooth foliation $\phi^* \mathcal{F}$ on M' of codimension n', called *pullback* of \mathcal{F} by ϕ . In particular, for the inclusion map of any open subset, $\iota: U \hookrightarrow M$, the pullback $\iota^* \mathcal{F}$ is the *restriction* $\mathcal{F}|_U$, which can be defined by the charts of \mathcal{F} with domain in U.

Given foliations \mathcal{F}_a on manifolds M_a (a = 1, 2), the products of leaves of \mathcal{F}_1 and \mathcal{F}_2 are the leaves of the *product foliation* $\mathcal{F}_1 \times \mathcal{F}_2$, whose charts can

be defined using products of charts of \mathcal{F}_1 and \mathcal{F}_2 . Any connected manifold M' can be considered as a foliation with one leaf. We can also consider the foliation by points on M', denoted by M'_{pt} . Thus we get the foliations $\mathcal{F} \times M'$ and $\mathcal{F} \times M'_{\text{pt}}$ on $M \times M'$.

4.2. **Holonomy.** After considering a possible refinement, we can assume that the foliated atlas $\{U_k, x_k\}$ is regular in the following sense: it is locally finite; for every k, there is a foliated chart $(\tilde{U}_k, \tilde{x}_k)$ such that $\overline{U_k} \subset \tilde{U}_k$ and \tilde{x}_k extends x_k ; and, if $U_{kl} := U_k \cap U_l \neq \emptyset$, then there is another foliated chart (U, x) such that $\overline{U_k} \cup \overline{U_l} \subset U$. In this case, (24) holds on the whole of U_{kl} , obtaining diffeomorphisms $h_{kl}: x'_l(U_{kl}) \to x'_k(U_{kl})$ determined by the condition $h_{kl}x'_l = x'_k$ on U_{kl} , called elementary holonomy transformations. The collection $\{U_k, x'_k, h_{kl}\}$ is called a defining cocycle. The elementary holonomy transformations h_{kl} generate the so-called holonomy pseudogroup \mathcal{H} on $\Sigma := \bigsqcup_k \Sigma_k$, which is unique up to certain equivalence of pseudogroups [28]. The \mathcal{H} -orbit of every $\bar{p} \in \Sigma$ is denoted by $\mathcal{H}(\bar{p})$. The maps x'_k define a homeomorphism between the leaf space, M/\mathcal{F} , and the orbit space, Σ/\mathcal{H} .

The paths in the leaves are called *leafwise paths* when considered in M. Let $c: I := [0, 1] \to M$ be a leafwise path with $p := c(0) \in U_k$ and $q := c(1) \in U_l$, and let $\bar{p} = x'_k(p) \in \Sigma_k$ and $\bar{q} = x'_k(q) \in \Sigma_l$. There is a partition of $I, 0 = t_0 < t_1 < \cdots < t_m = 1$, and a sequence of indices, $k = k_1, k_2, \ldots, k_m = l$, such that $c([t_{i-1}, t_i]) \subset U_{k_i}$ for $i = 1, \ldots, m$. The composition $h_c = h_{k_m k_{m-1}} \cdots h_{k_2 k_1}$ is a diffeomorphism with $\bar{p} \in \text{dom} h_c \subset \Sigma_k$ and $\bar{q} = h_c(\bar{p}) \in \text{im} h_c \subset \Sigma_l$. The tangent map $h_{c*}: T_{\bar{p}}\Sigma_k \to T_{\bar{q}}\Sigma_l$ is called *infinitesimal holonomy* of c. The germ \mathbf{h}_c of h_c at \bar{p} , called germinal holonomy of c, depends only on \mathcal{F} and the end-point homotopy class of c in $L := L_p$.

4.3. Infinitesimal transformations and transverse vector fields. The vectors tangent to the leaves form the tangent bundle $T\mathcal{F} \subset TM$, obtaining also the normal bundle $N\mathcal{F} = TM/T\mathcal{F}$, the cotangent bundle $T^*\mathcal{F} = (T\mathcal{F})^*$ and the conormal bundle $N^*\mathcal{F} = (N\mathcal{F})^*$, the tangent/normal density bundles, $\Omega^a \mathcal{F} = \Omega^a T\mathcal{F} \ (a \in \mathbb{R})$ and $\Omega^a N\mathcal{F}$ (removing "a" from the notation when it is 1), and the tangent/normal exterior bundles, $\Lambda \mathcal{F} = \bigwedge T^*\mathcal{F}$ and $\Lambda N\mathcal{F} = \bigwedge N^*\mathcal{F}$. The complex versions of these vector bundles are taken, unless it is explicitly indicated that the real versions are considered. The terms tangent/normal vector fields, densities and differential forms are used for their smooth sections. Sometimes, the terms "leafwise" or "vertical" are used instead of "tangent". By composition with the canonical projection $TM \to N\mathcal{F}$, any X in TM or $\mathfrak{X}(M)$ defines an element of $N\mathcal{F}$ or $C^{\infty}(M; N\mathcal{F})$ denoted by \overline{X} . For any smooth local transversal Σ of \mathcal{F} through a point $p \in M$, there is a canonical isomorphism $T_p \Sigma \cong N_p \mathcal{F}$.

A smooth vector bundle E over M, endowed with a flat $T\mathcal{F}$ -partial connection, is said to be \mathcal{F} -flat. For instance, $N\mathcal{F}$ is \mathcal{F} -flat with the $T\mathcal{F}$ -partial connection $\nabla^{\mathcal{F}}$ given by $\nabla_V^{\mathcal{F}} \overline{X} = \overline{[V,X]}$ for $V \in \mathfrak{X}(\mathcal{F}) := C^{\infty}(M;T\mathcal{F})$ and $X \in \mathfrak{X}(M)$. For every leafwise path c from p to q, its infinitesimal holonomy

can be considered as a homomorphism $h_{c*} \colon N_p \mathcal{F} \to N_q \mathcal{F}$, which equals the $\nabla^{\mathcal{F}}$ -parallel transport along c.

 $\mathfrak{X}(\mathcal{F})$ is a Lie subalgebra and $C^{\infty}(M)$ -submodule of $\mathfrak{X}(M)$, whose normalizer is denoted by $\mathfrak{X}(M, \mathcal{F})$, obtaining the quotient Lie algebra $\overline{\mathfrak{X}}(M, \mathcal{F}) = \mathfrak{X}(M, \mathcal{F})/\mathfrak{X}(\mathcal{F})$. The elements of $\mathfrak{X}(M, \mathcal{F})$ (respectively, $\overline{\mathfrak{X}}(M, \mathcal{F})$) are called infinitesimal transformations (respectively, transverse vector fields) of (M, \mathcal{F}) . The projection of every $X \in \mathfrak{X}(M, \mathcal{F})$ to $\overline{\mathfrak{X}}(M, \mathcal{F})$ is also denoted by \overline{X} ; in fact, $\overline{\mathfrak{X}}(M, \mathcal{F})$ can be identified with the linear subspace of $C^{\infty}(M; N\mathcal{F})$, consisting of the $\nabla^{\mathcal{F}}$ -parallel normal vector fields (those that are invariant by infinitesimal holonomy). Any $X \in \mathfrak{X}(M)$ is in $\mathfrak{X}(M, \mathcal{F})$ if and only if every restriction $X|_{U_k}$ can be projected by x'_k , defining an \mathcal{H} -invariant vector field on Σ , also denoted by \overline{X} . This induces a canonical isomorphism of $\overline{\mathfrak{X}}(M, \mathcal{F})$ to the Lie algebra $\mathfrak{X}(\Sigma, \mathcal{H})$ of \mathcal{H} -invariant tangent vector fields on Σ .

When M is not closed, we can consider the subsets of complete vector fields, $\mathfrak{X}_{com}(\mathcal{F}) \subset \mathfrak{X}(\mathcal{F})$ and $\mathfrak{X}_{com}(M,\mathcal{F}) \subset \mathfrak{X}(M,\mathcal{F})$. Let $\overline{\mathfrak{X}}_{com}(M,\mathcal{F}) \subset \overline{\mathfrak{X}}(M,\mathcal{F})$ be the projection of $\mathfrak{X}_{com}(M,\mathcal{F})$.

4.4. Holonomy groupoid. On the space of leafwise paths in M, with the compact-open topology, two leafwise paths are declared to be equivalent if they have the same end points and the same germinal holonomy. This is an equivalence relation, and the corresponding quotient space, $\mathfrak{G} = \operatorname{Hol}(M, \mathcal{F})$, becomes a smooth manifold of dimension n + n'' in the following way. An open neighborhood \mathfrak{U} of a class [c] in \mathfrak{G} , with $c(0) \in U_k$ and $c(1) \in U_l$, is defined by the leafwise paths d such that $d(0) \in U_k$, $d(1) \in U_l$, $x'_k d(0) \in \text{dom } h_c$, and h_d and h_c have the same germ at $x'_k d(0)$. Local coordinates on \mathfrak{U} are given by $[d] \mapsto (x_k d(0), x_l'' d(1))$. Moreover, \mathfrak{G} is a Lie groupoid, called the holonomy groupoid, where the space of units $\mathfrak{G}^{(0)} \equiv M$ is defined by the constant paths. the source and range projections $\mathbf{s}, \mathbf{r} \colon \mathfrak{G} \to M$ are given by the first and last points of the paths, and the operation is induced by the opposite of the usual path product⁶. Note that \mathfrak{G} is Hausdorff if and only if \mathcal{H} is quasi-analytic in the sense that, for any $h \in \mathcal{H}$ and every open $O \subset \Sigma$ with $\overline{O} \subset \operatorname{dom} h$, if $h|_{O} = id_{O}$, then h is the identity on some neighborhood of \overline{O} . Observe also that $\mathbf{s}, \mathbf{r} \colon \mathfrak{G} \to M$ are smooth submersions, and $(\mathbf{r}, \mathbf{s}) \colon \mathfrak{G} \to M^2$ is a smooth immersion. Let $\mathcal{R}_{\mathcal{F}} = \{(p,q) \in M^2 \mid L_p = L_q\} \subset M^2$, which is not a regular submanifold in general, and let $\Delta \subset M^2$ be the diagonal. We have $(\mathbf{r}, \mathbf{s})(\mathfrak{G}) = \mathcal{R}_{\mathcal{F}}$ and $(\mathbf{r}, \mathbf{s})(\mathfrak{G}^{(0)}) = \Delta$. For any leaf L and $p \in L$, we have $\operatorname{Hol}(L,p) = \mathbf{s}^{-1}(p) \cap \mathbf{r}^{-1}(p)$, the map $\mathbf{r} \colon \mathbf{s}^{-1}(p) \to L$ is the covering projection $\widetilde{L}^{\text{hol}} \to L$, and $\mathbf{s} \colon \mathbf{r}^{-1}(p) \to L$ corresponds to $\mathbf{r} \colon \mathbf{s}^{-1}(p) \to L$ by the inversion of \mathfrak{G} . Thus $(\mathbf{r}, \mathbf{s}): \mathfrak{G} \to M^2$ is injective if and only if all leaves have trivial holonomy groups, but, even in this case, it may not be a topological embedding. The fibers of \mathbf{s} and \mathbf{r} define smooth foliations of codimension non \mathfrak{G} . We also have the smooth foliation $\mathbf{s}^* \mathcal{F} = \mathbf{r}^* \mathcal{F}$ of codimension n' with

⁶A product of leafwise paths, $c_2 \cdot c_1$, is defined if $c_1(1) = c_2(0)$, and it is equal to c_1 followed by c_2 , reparametrized in the usual way.

leaves $\mathbf{s}^{-1}(L) = \mathbf{r}^{-1}(L) = (\mathbf{r}, \mathbf{s})^{-1}(L^2)$ for leaves L of \mathcal{F} , and every restriction $(\mathbf{r}, \mathbf{s}) \colon (\mathbf{r}, \mathbf{s})^{-1}(L^2) \to L^2$ is a smooth covering projection.

Let $\mathcal{F}_k = \mathcal{F}|_{U_k}$, $\mathfrak{G}_k = \operatorname{Hol}(U_k, \mathcal{F}_k)$ and $\mathcal{R}_k = \mathcal{R}_{\mathcal{F}_k}$. Then $\bigcup_k \mathfrak{G}_k$ (respectively, $\bigcup_k \mathcal{R}_k$) is an open neighborhood of $\mathfrak{G}^{(0)}$ in \mathfrak{G} (respectively, of Δ in $\mathcal{R}_{\mathcal{F}}$). Furthermore, by the regularity of $\{U_k, x_k\}$, the map $(\mathbf{r}, \mathbf{s}) \colon \bigcup_k \mathfrak{G}_k \to M^2$ is a smooth embedding with image $\bigcup_k \mathcal{R}_k$; we will write $\bigcup_k \mathfrak{G}_k \equiv \bigcup_k \mathcal{R}_k$.

4.5. The convolution algebra on \mathfrak{G} and its global action. Consider the notation of Section 4.4. For the sake of simplicity, assume that \mathfrak{G} is Hausdorff. The extension of the following concepts to the case where \mathfrak{G} is not Hausdorff can be made like in [15].

Given a vector bundle E over M, consider the vector bundle $S = \mathbf{r}^* E \otimes \mathbf{s}^*(E^* \otimes \Omega \mathcal{F})$ over \mathfrak{G} . Let $C^{\infty}_{cs}(\mathfrak{G}; S) \subset C^{\infty}(\mathfrak{G}; S)$ denote the subspace of sections $k \in C^{\infty}(\mathfrak{G}; S)$ such that $\operatorname{supp} k \cap \mathbf{s}^{-1}(K)$ is compact for all compact $K \subset M$; in particular, $C^{\infty}_{cs}(\mathfrak{G}; S) = C^{\infty}_{c}(\mathfrak{G}; S)$ if M is compact. Similarly, define $C^{\infty}_{cr}(\mathfrak{G}; S)$ by using \mathbf{r} instead of \mathbf{s} . Both $C^{\infty}_{cs}(\mathfrak{G}; S)$ and $C^{\infty}_{cr}(\mathfrak{G}; S)$ are associative algebras with the *convolution* product defined by

$$(k_1 * k_2)(\gamma) = \int_{\delta \epsilon = \gamma} k_1(\delta) k_2(\epsilon)$$

=
$$\int_{\mathbf{s}(\epsilon) = \mathbf{s}(\gamma)} k_1(\gamma \epsilon^{-1}) k_2(\epsilon) = \int_{\mathbf{r}(\delta) = \mathbf{r}(\gamma)} k_1(\delta) k_2(\delta^{-1}\gamma) k_2(\delta) k_2(\delta^{-1}\gamma) k_2(\delta) k_2(\delta)$$

and $C^{\infty}_{csr}(\mathfrak{G}; S) := C^{\infty}_{cs}(\mathfrak{G}; S) \cap C^{\infty}_{cr}(\mathfrak{G}; S)$ and $C^{\infty}_{c}(\mathfrak{G}; S)$ are subalgebras. There is a global action of $C^{\infty}_{cs}(\mathfrak{G}; S)$ on $C^{\infty}(M; E)$ defined by

$$(k \cdot u)(p) = \int_{\mathbf{r}(\gamma)=p} k(\gamma) \, u(\mathbf{s}(\gamma)).$$

In this way, $C_{cs}^{\infty}(\mathfrak{G}; S)$ can be understood as an algebra of operators on $C^{\infty}(M; E)$. Moreover, $C_{csr}^{\infty}(\mathfrak{G}; S)$ preserves $C_c^{\infty}(M; E)$, obtaining an algebra of operators on $C_c^{\infty}(M; E)$. It can be said that these operators are defined by a leafwise version of the Schwartz kernel (cp. Section 2.2).

Let S' be defined like S with $E^* \otimes \Omega \mathcal{F}$ instead of E. Then the mapping $k \mapsto k^{\mathrm{t}}$, where $k^{\mathrm{t}}(\gamma) = k(\gamma^{-1})$, defines the anti-homomorphisms $C_{\mathrm{cs/cr}}^{\infty}(\mathfrak{G}; S) \to C_{\mathrm{cr/cs}}^{\infty}(\mathfrak{G}; S')$ and $C_{\mathrm{csr}}^{\infty}(\mathfrak{G}; S) \to C_{\mathrm{csr}}^{\infty}(\mathfrak{G}; S')$, obtaining a leafwise version of the transposition of operators (cp. Section 2.2). Similarly, using $E = \Omega^{1/2} \mathcal{F}$, or if E has a Hermitian structure and we fix a non-vanishing leafwise density, we get a leafwise version of the adjointness of operators.

4.6. Leafwise distance. Assume that M is a Riemannian manifold, and consider the induced Riemannian metric on the leaves. The *leafwise distance* is the map $d_{\mathcal{F}} \colon M^2 \to [0, \infty]$ given by the distance function of the leaves on $\mathcal{R}_{\mathcal{F}}$, and with $d_{\mathcal{F}}(M^2 \setminus \mathcal{R}_{\mathcal{F}}) = \infty$. Note that $d_{\mathcal{F}} \geq d_M$. Given $p \in M, S \subset M$ and r > 0, the open and closed leafwise balls, $B_{\mathcal{F}}(p, r)$ and $\overline{B}_{\mathcal{F}}(p, r)$, and the open and closed leafwise penumbras, $\operatorname{Pen}_{\mathcal{F}}(S, r)$ and $\overline{\operatorname{Pen}}_{\mathcal{F}}(S, r)$, are defined with $d_{\mathcal{F}}$ like in the case of Riemannian metrics (see Section 3).

Equip \mathfrak{G} with the Riemannian structure so that the smooth immersion $(\mathbf{r}, \mathbf{s}) \colon \mathfrak{G} \to M^2$ is isometric. Let $d_{\mathbf{r}} \colon \mathfrak{G} \to [0, \infty]$ denote the leafwise distance for the foliation on \mathfrak{G} defined by the fibers of \mathbf{r} , and consider the corresponding open and closed leafwise penumbras, $\operatorname{Pen}_{\mathbf{r}}(\mathfrak{G}^{(0)}, r)$ and $\operatorname{Pen}_{\mathbf{r}}(\mathfrak{G}^{(0)}, r)$. Note that we get the same penumbras by using \mathbf{s} instead of \mathbf{r} ; indeed, they are defined by the conditions $d_{\mathcal{F}}^{\operatorname{hol}} < r$ and $d_{\mathcal{F}}^{\operatorname{hol}} \leq r$, respectively, where $d_{\mathcal{F}}^{\operatorname{hol}} \colon \mathfrak{G} \to [0, \infty)$ is defined by $d_{\mathcal{F}}^{\operatorname{hol}}(\gamma) = \inf_{c} \operatorname{length}(c)$, with c running in the piecewise smooth representatives of γ .

We have $d_{\mathcal{F}}^{\text{hol}} \equiv d_{\mathcal{F}}$ on $\bigcup_k \mathfrak{G}_k \equiv \bigcup_k \mathcal{R}_k$. Using the convexity radius (see, e.g., [39, Section 6.3.2]), it follows that, after refining $\{U_k, x_k\}$ if necessary, we can assume $d_{\mathcal{F}}$ is continuous on $\bigcup_k \mathcal{R}_k$.

From now on, suppose that the leaves are complete Riemannian manifolds. Then the exponential maps of the leaves define a smooth map, $\exp_{\mathcal{F}}: T\mathcal{F} \to M$, on the real tangent bundle of \mathcal{F} .

Lemma 4.7. For all compact $Q \subset M$ and r > 0, $\operatorname{Pen}_{\mathcal{F}}(Q, r)$ is relatively compact in M, and $\operatorname{Pen}_{\mathbf{r}}(\mathfrak{G}^{(0)}, r) \cap \mathbf{s}^{-1}(Q)$ and $\operatorname{Pen}_{\mathbf{s}}(\mathfrak{G}^{(0)}, r) \cap \mathbf{r}^{-1}(Q)$ are relatively compact in \mathfrak{G} .

Proof. The set $E = \{v \in T\mathcal{F} \mid ||v|| \leq r\}$ is a subbundle of $T\mathcal{F}$ with compact typical fiber, $\overline{B}_{\mathbb{R}^{n''}}(0,r)$. So its restriction E_Q is compact, obtaining that $\exp_{\mathcal{F}}(E_Q) = \overline{\operatorname{Pen}}_{\mathcal{F}}(Q,r)$ is compact.

For every $v \in T\mathcal{F}$, let $c_v \colon I \to M$ denote the leafwise path defined by $c_v(t) = \exp_{\mathcal{F}}(tv)$. A smooth map $\sigma \colon T\mathcal{F} \to \mathfrak{G}$ is defined by $\sigma(v) = [c_v]$. We get that $\sigma(E_Q) = \overline{\operatorname{Pen}}_{\mathcal{F}}(\mathfrak{G}^{(0)}, r) \cap \mathbf{s}^{-1}(Q)$ is compact, as well as $\overline{\operatorname{Pen}}_{\mathbf{s}}(\mathfrak{G}^{(0)}, r) \cap \mathbf{r}^{-1}(Q) = (\overline{\operatorname{Pen}}_{\mathbf{r}}(\mathfrak{G}^{(0)}, r) \cap \mathbf{s}^{-1}(Q))^{-1}$.

With the notation of Section 4.5, let $C_{\mathbf{p}}^{\infty}(\mathfrak{G}; S) \subset C^{\infty}(\mathfrak{G}; S)$ denote the subspace of sections supported in leafwise penumbras of $\mathfrak{G}^{(0)}$. By Lemma 4.7, this is a subalgebra of $C_{csr}^{\infty}(\mathfrak{G}; S)$, and the leafwise transposition restricts to an anti-homomorphism $C_{\mathbf{p}}^{\infty}(\mathfrak{G}; S) \to C_{\mathbf{p}}^{\infty}(\mathfrak{G}; S')$.

4.8. Foliated maps and foliated flows. A foliated map $\phi: (M_1, \mathcal{F}_1) \rightarrow (M_2, \mathcal{F}_2)$ is a map $\phi: M_1 \rightarrow M_2$ that maps leaves of \mathcal{F}_1 to leaves of \mathcal{F}_2 . In this case, assuming that ϕ is smooth, its tangent map defines morphisms $\phi_*: T\mathcal{F}_1 \rightarrow T\mathcal{F}_2$ and $\phi_*: N\mathcal{F}_1 \rightarrow N\mathcal{F}_2$, where the second one is compatible with the corresponding flat partial connections. We also get an induced Lie groupoid homomorphism $\operatorname{Hol}(\phi): \operatorname{Hol}(M_1, \mathcal{F}_1) \rightarrow \operatorname{Hol}(M_2, \mathcal{F}_2)$, defined by $\operatorname{Hol}(\phi)([c]) = [\phi c]$. The set of smooth foliated maps $(M_1, \mathcal{F}_1) \rightarrow (M_2, \mathcal{F}_2)$ is denoted by $C^{\infty}(M_1, \mathcal{F}_1; M_2, \mathcal{F}_2)$. A smooth family $\phi = \{\phi^t \mid t \in T\}$ of foliated maps $(M_1, \mathcal{F}_1) \rightarrow (M_2, \mathcal{F}_2)$.

For example, given another manifold M', if a smooth map $\psi: M' \to M$ is transverse to \mathcal{F} , then it is a foliated map $(M', \psi^* \mathcal{F}) \to (M, \mathcal{F})$.

Let Diffeo (M, \mathcal{F}) be the group of foliated diffeomorphisms (or transformations) of (M, \mathcal{F}) . A smooth flow $\phi = \{\phi^t\}$ on M is called *foliated* if $\phi^t \in \text{Diffeo}(M, \mathcal{F})$ for all $t \in \mathbb{R}$. More generally, a local flow $\phi \colon \Omega \to M$,

defined on some open neighborhood Ω of $M \times \{0\}$ in $M \times \mathbb{R}$, is called *foliated* if it is a foliated map $(\Omega, (\mathcal{F} \times \mathbb{R}_{pt})|_{\Omega}) \to (M, \mathcal{F})$. Then $\mathfrak{X}(M, \mathcal{F})$ consists of the smooth vector fields whose local flow is foliated, and $\mathfrak{X}_{com}(M, \mathcal{F})$ consists of the complete smooth vector fields whose flow is foliated.

Let $X \in \mathfrak{X}_{com}(M, \mathcal{F})$, with foliated flow $\phi = \{\phi^t\}$. With the notation of Sections 4.2 and 4.3, let $\overline{\phi}$ be the local flow on Σ generated by $\overline{X} \in \mathfrak{X}(\Sigma, \mathcal{H})$. Since $X|_{U_k}$ corresponds to $\overline{X}|_{\Sigma_k}$ via $x'_k \colon U_k \to \Sigma_k$, the local flow defined by ϕ on every U_k also corresponds to the restriction of $\overline{\phi}$ to Σ_k . Hence $\overline{\phi}$ is \mathcal{H} -equivariant in an obvious sense.

4.9. Differential operators on foliated manifolds. Like in Section 2.3, using $\mathfrak{X}(\mathcal{F})$ instead of $\mathfrak{X}(M)$, we get the filtered $C^{\infty}(M)$ -submodule and subalgebra of *leafwise differential operators*, $\text{Diff}(\mathcal{F}) \subset \text{Diff}(M)$, and a *leafwise principal symbol* surjection for every order m,

$${}^{\mathcal{F}}\!\!\sigma_m \colon \operatorname{Diff}^m(\mathcal{F}) \to P^{[m]}(T^*\mathcal{F}) \to 0,$$

whose kernel is $\text{Diff}^{m-1}(\mathcal{F})$. Moreover, these concepts can be extended to vector bundles E and F over M like in Section 2.3, obtaining the filtered $C^{\infty}(M)$ -submodule $\text{Diff}(\mathcal{F}; E, F)$ (or $\text{Diff}(\mathcal{F}; E)$ if E = F) of Diff(M; E, F), and the *leafwise principal symbol* surjection

$${}^{\mathcal{F}}\!\sigma_m \colon \operatorname{Diff}^m(\mathcal{F}; E, F) \to P^{[m]}(T^*\mathcal{F}; F \otimes E^*),$$

whose kernel is $\operatorname{Diff}^{m-1}(\mathcal{F}; E, F)$. The diagram

(25)
$$\begin{array}{ccc} \operatorname{Diff}^{m}(\mathcal{F}; E, F) & \xrightarrow{\mathcal{F}_{\sigma_{m}}} & P^{[m]}(T^{*}\mathcal{F}; F \otimes E^{*}) \\ & & & \downarrow \\ & & & \downarrow \\ \operatorname{Diff}^{m}(M; E, F) & \xrightarrow{\sigma_{m}} & P^{[m]}(T^{*}M; F \otimes E^{*}) \end{array}$$

is commutative, where the left-hand side vertical arrow denotes the inclusion homomorphism, and the right-hand side vertical arrow is defined by the restriction morphism $T^*M \to T^*\mathcal{F}$. The condition of being a leafwise differential operator is preserved by compositions and by taking transposes, and by taking formal adjoints in the case of Hermitian vector bundles; in particular, $\text{Diff}(\mathcal{F}; E)$ is a filtered subalgebra of Diff(M; E). It is said that $A \in \text{Diff}^m(\mathcal{F}; E, F)$ is *leafwisely elliptic* if the leafwise symbol $\mathcal{F}_{\sigma_m}(A)(p,\xi)$ is an isomorphism for all $p \in M$ and $0 \neq \xi \in T_p^*\mathcal{F}$.

A smooth family of leafwise differential operators, $A = \{A_t \mid t \in T\}$ with $A_t \in \text{Diff}^m(\mathcal{F}; E, F)$, can be canonically considered as a leafwise differential operator $A \in \text{Diff}^m(\mathcal{F} \times T_{\text{pt}}; \text{pr}_1^* E, \text{pr}_1^* F)$, where $\text{pr}_1 \colon M \times T \to M$ is the first factor projection.

On the other hand, using the canonical injection $N^*\mathcal{F} \subset T^*M$, it is said that $A \in \text{Diff}^m(M; E, F)$ is transversely elliptic if the symbol $\sigma_m(A)(p, \xi)$ is an isomorphism for all $p \in M$ and $0 \neq \xi \in N_p^*\mathcal{F}$.

4.10. Riemannian foliations. The \mathcal{H} -invariant structures on Σ are called (*invariant*) transverse structures. For instance, we will use the concepts of a transverse orientation, a transverse Riemannian metric, and a transverse parallelism. The existence of these transverse structures defines the classes of transversely orientable, (transversely) Riemannian, and transversely parallelizable (TP) foliations. If a transverse parallelism of \mathcal{F} is a base of a Lie subalgebra $\mathfrak{g} \subset \mathfrak{X}(\Sigma, \mathcal{H})$, it gives rise to the concepts of transverse Lie structure and (\mathfrak{g} -)Lie foliation. If G is the simply connected Lie group with Lie algebra \mathfrak{g} , then \mathcal{F} is a \mathfrak{g} -Lie foliation just when \mathcal{H} is equivalent to some pseudogroup on G generated by some left translations.

By using the canonical isomorphism $\overline{\mathfrak{X}}(M, \mathcal{F}) \cong \mathfrak{X}(\Sigma, \mathcal{H})$, the condition on \mathcal{F} to be TP means that there is a global frame of $N\mathcal{F}$ consisting of transverse vector fields $\overline{X_1}, \ldots, \overline{X_{n'}}$, also called a *transverse parallelism*; and the condition on \mathcal{F} to be a \mathfrak{g} -Lie foliation means that, moreover, $\overline{X_1}, \ldots, \overline{X_{n'}}$ form a base of a Lie subalgebra of $\mathfrak{g} \subset \overline{\mathfrak{X}}(M, \mathcal{F})$. With this point of view, if, moreover, $\overline{X_1}, \ldots, \overline{X_{n'}} \in \overline{\mathfrak{X}_{com}}(M, \mathcal{F})$, then the TP or Lie foliation \mathcal{F} is called *complete*.

Similarly, a transverse Riemannian metric can be described as a Euclidean structure on $N\mathcal{F}$ that is invariant by infinitesimal holonomy. In turn, this is induced by a Riemannian metric on M such that every $x'_k \colon U_k \to \Sigma_k$ is a Riemannian submersion, called *bundle-like metric*. Thus \mathcal{F} is Riemannian if and only if there is a bundle-like metric on M.

It is said that \mathcal{F} is transitive at a point $p \in M$ when the evaluation map $\operatorname{ev}_p: \mathfrak{X}(M, \mathcal{F}) \to T_p M$ is surjective, or, equivalently, the evaluation map $\overline{\operatorname{ev}_p}: \overline{\mathfrak{X}}(M, \mathcal{F}) \subset C^{\infty}(M; N\mathcal{F}) \to N_p \mathcal{F}$ is surjective. The transitive point set is open and saturated. The foliation \mathcal{F} is called *transitive* if it is transitive at every point. It is said that \mathcal{F} is *transversely complete* (TC) if $\operatorname{ev}_p(\mathfrak{X}_{\operatorname{com}}(M, \mathcal{F}))$ generates $T_p M$ for all $p \in M$. Since the evaluation map $\mathfrak{X}_{\operatorname{com}}(\mathcal{F}) \to T_p \mathcal{F}$ is surjective [37, Section 4.5], \mathcal{F} is TC if and only if $\overline{\operatorname{ev}_p}(\mathfrak{X}_{\operatorname{com}}(M, \mathcal{F}))$ generates $N_p \mathcal{F}$ for all $p \in M$.

All TP foliations are transitive, and all transitive foliations are Riemannian. On the other hand, Molino's theory [37] describes Riemannian foliations in terms of TP foliations. A Riemannian foliation is called *complete* if, using Molino's theory, the corresponding TP foliation is TC. Furthermore, Molino's theory describes TC foliations in terms of complete Lie foliations with dense leaves. In turn, complete Lie foliations have the following description due to Fedida [24, 25] (see also [37, Theorem 4.1 and Lemma 4.5]). Assume that M is connected and \mathcal{F} is a complete \mathfrak{g} -Lie foliation. Let G be the simply connected Lie group whose Lie algebra (of left-invariant vector fields) is (isomorphic to) \mathfrak{g} . Then there is a regular covering space, $\pi \colon \widetilde{M} \to M$, a fiber bundle $D \colon \widetilde{M} \to G$ (the *developing* map) and a monomorphism $h \colon \Gamma := \operatorname{Aut}(\pi) \equiv \pi_1 L/\pi_1 \widetilde{L} \to G$ (the *holonomy* homomorphism) such that the leaves of $\widetilde{\mathcal{F}} := \pi^* \mathcal{F}$ are the fibers of D, and D is *h*-equivariant with respect to the left action of G on itself by left translations. As a consequence, π restricts to diffeomorphisms between the leaves of $\widetilde{\mathcal{F}}$ and \mathcal{F} . The subgroup Hol $\mathcal{F} = \operatorname{im} h \subset G$, isomorphic to Γ , is called the global holonomy group. The $\widetilde{\mathcal{F}}$ -leaf through every $\widetilde{p} \in \widetilde{M}$ will be denoted by $\widetilde{L}_{\widetilde{p}}$. Since D induces an identity $\widetilde{M}/\widetilde{\mathcal{F}} \equiv G$, the π -lift and D-projection of vector fields define the identities⁷

(26)
$$\overline{\mathfrak{X}}(M,\mathcal{F}) \equiv \overline{\mathfrak{X}}(\widetilde{M},\widetilde{\mathcal{F}},\Gamma) \equiv \mathfrak{X}(G,\operatorname{Hol}\mathcal{F}).$$

These identities give a precise realization of $\mathfrak{g} \subset \overline{\mathfrak{X}}(M, \mathcal{F})$ as the Lie algebra of left invariant vector fields on G. The holonomy pseudogroup of \mathcal{F} is equivalent to the pseudogroup on G generated by the action of Hol \mathcal{F} by left translations. Thus the leaves are dense if and only if Hol \mathcal{F} is dense in G, which means $\mathfrak{g} = \overline{\mathfrak{X}}(M, \mathcal{F})$.

4.11. Differential forms on foliated manifolds.

4.11.1. The leafwise complex. Let $d_{\mathcal{F}} \in \text{Diff}^1(\mathcal{F}; \Lambda \mathcal{F})$ be given by $(d_{\mathcal{F}}\xi)|_L = d_L(\xi|_L)$ for every leaf L and $\xi \in C^{\infty}(M; \Lambda \mathcal{F})$. Then $(C^{\infty}(M; \Lambda \mathcal{F}), d_{\mathcal{F}})$ is a differential complex, called the *leafwise* (*de Rham*) complex. This gives rise to the (reduced) leafwise cohomology⁸ (with complex coefficients), $H^*(\mathcal{F}) = H^*(\mathcal{F}; \mathbb{C})$ and $\bar{H}^*(\mathcal{F}) = \bar{H}^*(\mathcal{F}; \mathbb{C})$. Compactly supported versions may be also considered when M is not compact.

Similarly, we can take coefficients in any complex \mathcal{F} -flat vector bundle Eover M, obtaining the differential complex $(C^{\infty}(M; \Lambda \mathcal{F} \otimes E), d_{\mathcal{F}})$, with $d_{\mathcal{F}} \in$ Diff¹ $(\mathcal{F}; \Lambda \mathcal{F} \otimes E)$, and the corresponding (reduced) leafwise cohomology with coefficients in E, $H^*(\mathcal{F}; E)$ and $\bar{H}^*(\mathcal{F}; E)$. For example, we can consider the vector bundle E defined by the GL(n')-principal bundle of (real) normal frames and any unitary representation of GL(n'), with the \mathcal{F} -flat structure induced by the \mathcal{F} -flat structure of $N\mathcal{F}$. A particular case is $\Lambda N\mathcal{F}$, which gives rise to the differential complex $(C^{\infty}(M; \Lambda \mathcal{F} \otimes \Lambda N\mathcal{F}), d_{\mathcal{F}})$ and its compactly supported version. Note that

$$\Lambda \mathcal{F} \equiv \Lambda \mathcal{F} \otimes \Lambda^0 N \mathcal{F} \subset \Lambda \mathcal{F} \otimes \Lambda N \mathcal{F},$$

inducing an injection of topological complexes and their (reduced) cohomologies, and the same holds for the compactly supported versions. In fact, these are topological graded differential algebras with the exterior product, and the above injections are compatible with the product structures.

For any $\phi \in C^{\infty}(M_1, \mathcal{F}_1; M_2, \mathcal{F}_2)$, the morphisms $\phi_* : T\mathcal{F}_1 \to T\mathcal{F}_2$ and $\phi_* : N\mathcal{F}_1 \to N\mathcal{F}_2$ induce a morphism

$$\phi^* \colon \phi^*(\Lambda \mathcal{F}_2 \otimes \Lambda N \mathcal{F}_2) \to \Lambda \mathcal{F}_1 \otimes \Lambda N \mathcal{F}_1$$

over id_{M_1} , which in turn induces a continuous homomorphism of graded differential algebras,

(27)
$$\phi^*: C^{\infty}(M_2; \Lambda \mathcal{F}_2 \otimes \Lambda N \mathcal{F}_2) \to C^{\infty}(M_1; \Lambda \mathcal{F}_1 \otimes \Lambda N \mathcal{F}_1),$$

 $^{^7{\}rm Given}$ an action, the group is added to the notation of a space of vector fields to indicate the subspace of invariant elements.

⁸The term *tangential cohomology* is also used.

and continuous homomorphisms between the corresponding (reduced) leafwise cohomologies. By restriction, we get the homomorphism

$$\phi^* \colon C^{\infty}(M_2; \Lambda \mathcal{F}_2) \to C^{\infty}(M_1; \Lambda \mathcal{F}_1),$$

with analogous properties.

4.11.2. Bigrading. Consider any splitting

(28)
$$TM = T\mathcal{F} \oplus \mathbf{H} \cong T\mathcal{F} \oplus N\mathcal{F},$$

given by a transverse distribution $\mathbf{H} \subset TM$, and let $\Lambda \mathbf{H} = \bigwedge \mathbf{H}^*$. It induces a decomposition

(29)
$$\Lambda M \equiv \Lambda \mathcal{F} \otimes \Lambda \mathbf{H} \cong \Lambda \mathcal{F} \otimes \Lambda N \mathcal{F},$$

giving rise to the bigrading of ΛM defined by⁹

$$\Lambda^{u,v}M \equiv \Lambda^v \mathcal{F} \otimes \Lambda^u \mathbf{H} \cong \Lambda^v \mathcal{F} \otimes \Lambda^u N \mathcal{F},$$

and the corresponding bigrading of $C^{\infty}(M; \Lambda)$ with terms

$$C^{\infty}(M;\Lambda^{u,v}) \equiv C^{\infty}(M;\Lambda^{v}\mathcal{F}\otimes\Lambda^{u}N\mathcal{F})$$

This bigrading depends on **H**, but the spaces $\Lambda^{\geq u, \cdot} M$ and $C^{\infty}(M; \Lambda^{\geq u, \cdot})$ are independent of **H** (see, e.g., [1]). In particular, every $\Lambda^{\geq u, \cdot} M / \Lambda^{\geq u+1, \cdot} M$ is independent of **H**; indeed, there are canonical identities

(30)
$$\Lambda^{\geq u,\cdot} M / \Lambda^{\geq u+1,\cdot} M \equiv \Lambda^{u,\cdot} M \equiv \Lambda \mathcal{F} \otimes \Lambda^u N \mathcal{F},$$

where only the middle bundle depends on **H**. The de Rham derivative on $C^{\infty}(M; \Lambda)$ decomposes into bi-homogeneous components,

(31)
$$d = d_{0,1} + d_{1,0} + d_{2,-1},$$

where the double subindex denotes the corresponding bi-degree. We have

$$d_{0,1} \in \operatorname{Diff}^1(\mathcal{F}; \Lambda M), \quad d_{1,0} \in \operatorname{Diff}^1(M; \Lambda), \quad d_{2,-1} \in \operatorname{Diff}^0(M; \Lambda).$$

Moreover,¹⁰

(32)
$$d_{0,1} \equiv d_{\mathcal{F}}$$

via (29), and $d_{2,-1} = 0$ if and only if **H** is completely integrable. Note that

(33)
$$d_{0,1} = d : C^{\infty}(M; \Lambda^{n', \cdot}) \to C^{\infty}(M; \Lambda^{n', \cdot}).$$

By comparing bi-degrees in $d^2 = 0$, we get (see, e.g., [1])

(34)
$$d_{0,1}^2 = d_{0,1}d_{1,0} + d_{1,0}d_{0,1} = 0.$$

For any $\phi \in C^{\infty}(M_1, \mathcal{F}_1; M_2, \mathcal{F}_2)$, we have restrictions

$$\phi^* \colon C^{\infty}(M_2; \Lambda^{\geq u, \cdot}) \to C^{\infty}(M_1; \Lambda^{\geq u, \cdot})$$

⁹We have reversed the order given in [2] for the factors of the tensor product in the definition of $\Lambda^{u,v}M$ because the signs in some expressions become simpler. But we keep the same order for the "transverse degree" u and the "tangential degree" v in $\Lambda^{u,v}M$ because this is the usual order in the Leray spectral sequence of fiber bundles, generalized to foliations.

¹⁰The sign of [2, Lemma 3.4] is omitted here by our change in the definition of $\Lambda^{u,v}M$.

of $\phi^* : C^{\infty}(M_2; \Lambda) \to C^{\infty}(M_1; \Lambda)$, which induce (27) using (30). Like in (31) and (32),

(35)
$$\phi^* = \phi^*_{0,0} + \phi^*_{1,-1} + \dots : C^{\infty}(M_2; \Lambda) \to C^{\infty}(M_1; \Lambda)$$

and

(36)
$$\phi_{0,0}^* \equiv \phi^*,$$

via (29), where the right-hand side is (27).

For any $X \in \mathfrak{X}(M)$, let ι_X denote the corresponding inner product, and let $\mathbf{V}: TM \to T\mathcal{F}$ and $\mathbf{H}: TM \to \mathbf{H}$ denote the projections defined by (28). By comparing bi-degrees in Cartan's formula, $\mathcal{L}_X = d\iota_X + \iota_X d$, we get a decomposition into bi-homogeneous components,

$$\mathcal{L}_X = \mathcal{L}_{X,-1,1} + \mathcal{L}_{X,0,0} + \mathcal{L}_{X,1,-1} + \mathcal{L}_{X,2,-2};$$

for instance,

(37)
$$\mathcal{L}_{X,0,0} = d_{0,1}\iota_{\mathbf{V}X} + \iota_{\mathbf{V}X}d_{0,1} + d_{1,0}\iota_{\mathbf{H}X} + \iota_{\mathbf{H}X}d_{1,0}.$$

It is easy to check that $\mathcal{L}_{X,-1,1}$, $\mathcal{L}_{X,1,-1}$ and $\mathcal{L}_{X,2,-2}$ are of order zero, and

(38)
$$\mathcal{L}_{X,0,0}(\alpha \wedge \beta) = \mathcal{L}_{X,0,0}\alpha \wedge \beta + \alpha \wedge \mathcal{L}_{X,0,0}\beta$$

Moreover, $\mathcal{L}_{X,0,0} = X$ and $\mathcal{L}_{X,-1,1} = \mathcal{L}_{X,1,-1} = \mathcal{L}_{X,2,-2} = 0$ on $C^{\infty}(M)$.

Assume that $X \in \mathfrak{X}(M, \mathcal{F})$ from now on. Then $\mathcal{L}_{X,-1,1} = 0$ by (35), and therefore

(39)
$$\mathcal{L}_{X,0,0}d_{0,1} = d_{0,1}\mathcal{L}_{X,0,0},$$

by comparing bi-degrees in the formula $\mathcal{L}_X d = d\mathcal{L}_X$. Let Θ_X be the operator on $C^{\infty}(M; \Lambda \mathcal{F} \otimes \Lambda N \mathcal{F})$ that corresponds to $\mathcal{L}_{X,0,0}$ via (29). By (38) and (39),

$$\Theta_X(\xi \wedge \zeta) = \Theta_X \xi \wedge \zeta + \xi \wedge \Theta_X \zeta, \quad \Theta_X d_{\mathcal{F}} = d_{\mathcal{F}} \Theta_X$$

Let (U, x) be a foliated chart of \mathcal{F} , with x = (x', x''), like in (23). To emphasize the difference between the coordinates x' and x'', we use the following notation on U or x(U). Let $x'^i = x^i$ and $\partial'_i = \partial_i$ for $i \leq n'$, and $x''^i = x^i$ and $\partial''_i = \partial_i$ for i > n'. Thus, when using x'^i or ∂'_i , it will be understood that i runs in $\{1, \ldots, n'\}$, and, when using x''^i or ∂''_i , it will be understood that i runs in $\{n'+1,\ldots,n\}$. For multi-indices of the form $I = (i_1,\ldots,i_n) \in \mathbb{N}_0^n$, write $\partial_I = \partial'_I \partial''_I$, where $\partial'_I = \partial^{i_1}_1 \cdots \partial^{i_{n'}}_{n'}$ and $\partial''_I = \partial^{i_{n'+1}}_{n'+1} \cdots \partial^{i_n}_n$. For multi-indices of the form $J = \{j_1,\ldots,j_r\}$ with $1 \leq j_1 < \cdots < j_r \leq n$, let $dx^J = dx^{j_1} \wedge \cdots \wedge dx^{j_r}$ be denoted by dx'^J or dx''^J if J only contains indices in $\{1,\ldots,n'\}$ or $\{n'+1,\ldots,n\}$, respectively. Using functions $f_I, f_{IJ} \in C^{\infty}(U)$, $d_{\mathcal{F}}$ can be locally described by

(40)
$$d_{\mathcal{F}}(f_I \, dx''^I) = \partial_i'' f_I \, dx''^j \wedge dx''^I$$

and (32) means that

(41)
$$d_{0,1}(f_{IJ} \, dx''^I \wedge dx'^J) = d_{\mathcal{F}}(f_{IJ} \, dx''^I) \wedge dx'^J.$$

4.11.3. Compatibility of orientations. A transverse orientation of \mathcal{F} can be described as a (necessarily $\nabla^{\mathcal{F}}$ -invariant) orientation of $N\mathcal{F}$. It is determined by a non-vanishing real form $\omega \in C^{\infty}(M; \Lambda^{n'}N\mathcal{F})$; i.e., some real $\omega \in C^{\infty}(M; \Lambda^{n'})$ with

$$T\mathcal{F} = \{ Y \in TM \mid \iota_Y \omega = 0 \}.$$

On the other hand, an orientation of $T\mathcal{F}$ is called an *orientation* of \mathcal{F} , which can be described by a non-vanishing form $\chi \in C^{\infty}(M; \Lambda^{n''}\mathcal{F}) \equiv C^{\infty}(M; \Lambda^{0,n''})$. When \mathcal{F} is equipped with a transverse orientation (respectively, an orientation), it is said to be *transversely oriented* (respectively, *oriented*). Given transverse and tangential orientations of \mathcal{F} described by forms ω and χ as above, we get an induced orientation of M defined by the non-vanishing form $\chi \wedge \omega \in C^{\infty}(M; \Lambda^{n',n''}) = C^{\infty}(M; \Lambda^n)$.

Suppose that, moreover, M is a Riemannian manifold, and take $\mathbf{H} = T\mathcal{F}^{\perp}$. Then, using (29), the induced Hodge star operators, \star on ΛM , $\star_{\mathcal{F}}$ on $\Lambda \mathcal{F}$ and \star_{\perp} on $\Lambda \mathbf{H}$ satisfy¹¹ [8, Lemma 4.8], [2, Lemma 3.2],

(42)
$$\star \equiv (-1)^{u(n''-v)} \star_{\mathcal{F}} \otimes \star_{\perp} \colon \Lambda^{u,v} M \to \Lambda^{n'-u,n''-v} M.$$

If we take $\omega = \star_{\perp} 1 \in C^{\infty}(M; \Lambda^{n'}\mathbf{H}) \equiv C^{\infty}(M; \Lambda^{n',0})$ and $\chi = \star_{\mathcal{F}} 1 \in C^{\infty}(M; \Lambda^{n''}\mathcal{F}) \equiv C^{\infty}(M; \Lambda^{0,n''})$, then $\chi \wedge \omega = \star 1 \in C^{\infty}(M; \Lambda^{n})$.

4.11.4. Bihomogeneous components of the coderivative. Let g be a Riemannian metric on M. On the one hand, g induces a Hermitian structure on $\Lambda \mathcal{F} \otimes \Lambda N \mathcal{F}$, and we can consider $\delta_{\mathcal{F}} = d_{\mathcal{F}}^*$ on $C^{\infty}(M; \Lambda \mathcal{F} \otimes \Lambda N \mathcal{F})$. On the other hand, by taking formal adjoints in (31) with $\mathbf{H} = T \mathcal{F}^{\perp}$, we get the decomposition into bi-homogeneous components,

(43)
$$\delta = \delta_{0,-1} + \delta_{-1,0} + \delta_{-2,1},$$

where $\delta_{-i,-j} = d^*_{i,j}$. From (34), it follows that

(44)
$$\delta_{0,-1}^2 = \delta_{0,-1}\delta_{-1,0} + \delta_{-1,0}\delta_{0,-1} = 0.$$

Lemma 4.12. The metric g is bundle-like if and only if $\delta_{0,-1} \equiv \delta_{\mathcal{F}}$ via (29).

Proof. By working locally, we can assume that \mathcal{F} is transversely oriented and oriented, and consider the induced orientation of M according to Section 4.11.3. By (41) and (42), and since \star_{\perp} determines $g|_{\mathbf{H}}$, we get that g is bundle like if and only if $d_{0,1}$ commutes with $1 \otimes \star_{\perp}$, which is equivalent to $\delta_{0,-1} \equiv \delta_{\mathcal{F}}$ by (12).

With the notation of (41), the equality $\delta_{0,-1} \equiv \delta_{\mathcal{F}}$ means that

(45)
$$\delta_{0,-1}(f_{IJ}\,dx^{\prime\prime I}\wedge dx^{\prime J}) = \delta_{\mathcal{F}}(f_{IJ}\,dx^{\prime\prime I})\wedge dx^{\prime J}$$

¹¹The sign of this expression is different in [2, Lemma 3.2] by the different choice of induced orientation of M, given by $\omega \wedge \chi$ in that paper.

5. RIEMANNIAN FOLIATIONS OF BOUNDED GEOMETRY

With the notation of Section 4, suppose that \mathcal{F} is Riemannian. Let g be a bundle-like metric on M, ∇ its Levi-Civita connection and R its curvature.

The vector subbundle $T\mathcal{F}^{\perp} \subset TM$ is called *horizontal*, giving rise to the concepts of *horizontal* vectors, vector fields and frames. Now, we take $\mathbf{H} = T\mathcal{F}^{\perp}$ in (28), and therefore $\mathbf{V} \colon TM \to T\mathcal{F}$ and $\mathbf{H} \colon TM \to \mathbf{H}$ are the orthogonal projections. The O'Neill tensors [38] of the local Riemannian submersions defining \mathcal{F} can be combined to produce (1, 2)-tensors T and A on M, defined by

$$\begin{aligned} \mathsf{T}_E F &= \mathbf{H} \nabla_{\mathbf{V} E} (\mathbf{V} F) + \mathbf{V} \nabla_{\mathbf{V} E} (\mathbf{H} F), \\ \mathsf{A}_E F &= \mathbf{H} \nabla_{\mathbf{H} E} (\mathbf{V} F) + \mathbf{V} \nabla_{\mathbf{H} E} (\mathbf{H} F), \end{aligned}$$

for all $E, F \in \mathfrak{X}(M)$. According to [38, Theorem 4], if M is connected, given g and any $p \in M$, the foliation \mathcal{F} is determined by T , A and $T_p\mathcal{F}$.

A Riemannian connection $\overset{\circ}{\nabla}$ on M, called *adapted*, is defined by [8]

$$\nabla_E F = \mathbf{V} \nabla_E (\mathbf{V} F) + \mathbf{H} \nabla_E (\mathbf{H} F)$$

for all $E, F \in \mathfrak{X}(M)$. For $V, W \in \mathfrak{X}(\mathcal{F})$ and $X \in C^{\infty}(M; \mathbf{H})$, we have

(46)
$$\nabla_V - \mathring{\nabla}_V = \mathsf{T}_V, \quad \nabla_X - \mathring{\nabla}_X = \mathsf{A}_X,$$

and (see [5, Eqs. (3.8)-(3.10)])

(47)
$$\nabla_V^{\mathcal{F}} W = \mathring{\nabla}_V W,$$

(48)
$$\nabla_V^{\mathcal{F}} \overline{X} = \mathring{\nabla}_V X - \mathsf{A}_X V,$$
$$\mathbf{V}([X,V]) = \mathring{\nabla}_X V - \mathsf{T}_V X.$$

By (47), the ∇ -geodesics that are tangent to the leaves at some point remain tangent to the leaves at every point, and they are the geodesics of the leaves. So the leaves are ∇ -totally geodesic, but not necessarily ∇ -totally geodesic. By the second equality of (46) and [38, Lemma 2], ∇ and ∇ have the same geodesics orthogonal to the leaves.

Given any $p \in M$, let $x': U \to \Sigma$ be a distinguished submersion so that $p \in U$. Consider the Riemannian metric on Σ such that x' is a Riemannian submersion, and let $\check{\nabla}$ and exp denote the corresponding Levi-Civita connection and exponential map of Σ . From [38, Lemma 1 (3)], it follows that $\check{\nabla}_X Y \in \mathfrak{X}(U, \mathcal{F}|_U)$ for all horizontal $X, Y \in \mathfrak{X}(U, \mathcal{F}|_U)$ and, moreover,

(49)
$$\overline{\mathring{\nabla}_X Y} = \check{\nabla}_{\overline{X}} \overline{Y}.$$

Let exp denote the exponential map of the geodesic spray of $\overset{\circ}{\nabla}$ (see, e.g., [40, pp. 96–99]). Observe that the exponential map of the leaves is a restriction of exp. The maps exp and exp restrict to diffeomorphisms of some open neighborhoods, V of 0 in T_pM and \check{V} of 0 in $T_{x'(p)}\Sigma$, to some open neighborhoods,

O of p in M and \check{O} of x'(p) in Σ . Moreover, we can suppose that $O \subset U$, $x'_*(V) \subset \check{V}$ and $x'(O) \subset \check{O}$. By (49),

(50)
$$x' \exp = \exp x'_*$$

on $V \cap T_p \mathcal{F}^{\perp}$. Let κ_p (or simply κ) be the smooth map of some neighborhood W of 0 in $T_p M$ to M defined by

$$\kappa_p(X) = \operatorname{exp}_q(\check{P}_{\mathbf{H}X}\mathbf{V}X),$$

where $q = \exp_{p}(\mathbf{H}X)$, and $\mathring{P}_{\mathbf{H}X}: T_{p}M \to T_{q}M$ denotes the $\mathring{\nabla}$ -parallel transport along the ∇ -geodesic $t \mapsto \exp_n(t\mathbf{H}X), 0 \leq t \leq 1$, which is also a ∇ geodesic because it is orthogonal to the leaves. By choosing W small enough, we have $W \subset V$ and $\kappa(W) \subset O$; thus $x'_*(W) \subset \check{V}$ and $x'\kappa(W) \subset \check{O}$. For $X, Y \in W$, we have $X - Y \in T_p \mathcal{F}$ if and only if $\kappa(X)$ and $\kappa(Y)$ belong to the same plaque of U [5, Proposition 6.1]. We also have $x'\kappa(X) = \exp x'_*(X)$ for all $X \in W \cap T_p \mathcal{F}^{\perp}$ by (50). Furthermore, κ defines a diffeomorphism of some neighborhood of 0 in T_pM to some neighborhood of p in M. By choosing horizontal and vertical orthonormal frames at p, we get identities $T_p \mathcal{F}^{\perp} \equiv \mathbb{R}^{n'}$ and $T_p \mathcal{F} \equiv \mathbb{R}^{n''}$. Then, for some open balls centered at the origin, B' in $\mathbb{R}^{n'}$ and B'' in $\mathbb{R}^{n''}$, we can assume that κ is a diffeomorphism of $B' \times B''$ to some open neighborhood of p. From now on, we use the notation $U = \kappa (B' \times B'')$ and $\kappa^{-1} = x = (x', x'')$ on U, like in (23). This foliated chart (U, x) is called normal, as well as the foliated coordinates x. As usual, g_{ij} denotes the corresponding coefficients of the bundle-like metric, and let $(g^{ij}) = (g_{ij})^{-1}$. On U, we have 12

(51)
$$\mathbf{V} = g_{ik}g^{kj}\,\partial_i'' \otimes dx'^i + \partial_i'' \otimes dx''^i$$

(52)
$$\mathbf{H} = \partial'_i \otimes dx'^i - g_{ik} g^{kj} \, \partial''_j \otimes dx'^i,$$

where k runs in $\{n' + 1, ..., n\}$, see [5, Eq. (7.2)].

It will be said that \mathcal{F} has positive injectivity bi-radius¹³ if there are normal foliated coordinates $x_p: U_p \to B' \times B''$ at every $p \in M$ such that the balls B' and B'' are independent of p.

Definition 5.1 (Alvarez-Kordyukov-Leichtnam [5, Definition 8.1]). It is said that \mathcal{F} is of *bounded geometry* if it has positive injectivity bi-radius, and the functions $|\nabla^m R|$, $|\nabla^m \mathsf{T}|$ and $|\nabla^m \mathsf{A}|$ are uniformly bounded on M for every $m \in \mathbb{N}_0$.

Another definition of bounded geometry for Riemannian foliations was given by Sanguiao [44, Definition 1.7]. Definition 5.1 also has the following chart characterization, which is at least as strong as Sanguiao's definition [5, Remark 8.5].

 $^{^{12}}$ We use the convention that repeated indices are summed.

¹³In [5, Section 8], the concept of transverse injectivity radii was introduced for a defining cocycle, and it was wrongly stated that its positivity is independent of the defining cocycle. Then some step in the proof of [5, Theorem 8.4] does not work. This problem is clearly solved with the new concept of positive injectivity bi-radius.

Theorem 5.2 (Álvarez–Kordyukov–Leichtnam [5, Theorem 8.4]). With the above notation, \mathcal{F} is of bounded geometry if and only if there is a normal foliated chart $x_p: U_p \to B' \times B''$ at every $p \in M$ such that the balls B' and B'' are independent of p, and the corresponding coefficients g_{ij} and g^{ij} , as family of smooth functions on $B' \times B''$ parametrized by i, j and p, lie in a bounded subset of the Fréchet space $C^{\infty}(B' \times B'')$.

In this section, assume from now on that \mathcal{F} is of bounded geometry. Then M and the disjoint union of the leaves are of bounded geometry [5, Remark 8.2 and Proposition 8.6]. Consider the foliated charts $x_p: U_p \to B' \times B''$ given by Theorem 5.2. The radii of the balls B' and B'' will be denoted by r'_0 and r''_0 . By the usual expression of the Christoffel symbols Γ^k_{ij} of ∇ in terms of the metric coefficients g_{ij} and g^{ij} , and by (51) and (52), it follows that the Christoffel symbols Γ^k_{ij} of $\hat{\nabla}$, as family of smooth functions on $B' \times B''$ parametrized by i, j, k and p, also lie in a bounded subset of the Fréchet space $C^{\infty}(B' \times B'')$.

Proposition 5.3 (Álvarez–Kordyukov–Leichtnam [5, Proposition 8.6]). For some r > 0, we have $B(p,r) \subset U_p$ for all $p \in M$.

Proposition 5.4 (Álvarez–Kordyukov–Leichtnam [5, Proposition 8.7]). For every multi-index I, the function $|\partial_I(x_q x_p^{-1})|$ is bounded on $x_p(U_p \cap U_q)$, uniformly on $p, q \in M$.

For $0 < r' \le r'_0$ and $0 < r'' \le r''_0$, let $B'_{r'}$ and $B''_{r''}$ denote the balls in $\mathbb{R}^{n'}$ and $\mathbb{R}^{n''}$ centered at the origin with radii r' and r'', respectively, and set $U_{p,r',r''} = x_p^{-1}(B'_{r'} \times B''_{r''})$.

Proposition 5.5 (Álvarez-Kordyukov-Leichtnam [5, Proposition 8.8]). Let r', r'' > 0 with $2r' \leq r'_0$ and $2r'' \leq r''_0$. Then there is a collection of points p_k in M, and there is some $N \in \mathbb{N}$ such that the sets $U_{p_k,r',r''}$ cover M, and every intersection of N + 1 sets $U_{p_k,2r',2r''}$ is empty. Moreover, there is a partition of unity $\{f_k\}$ subordinated to the open covering $\{U_{p_k,2r',2r''}\}$, which is bounded in the Fréchet space $C^{\infty}_{ub}(M)$.

Let $y_p: V_p \to B$ be normal coordinates satisfying the statement of Theorem 3.2. The radius of B is denoted by r_0 . According to Proposition 5.3, we can assume that $V_p \subset U_p$ for all p.

Proposition 5.6. The functions $x_p y_p^{-1}$, for $p \in M$, define a bounded subset of the Fréchet space $C^{\infty}(B, \mathbb{R}^{n'} \times \mathbb{R}^{n''})$.

Proof. By Theorem 3.2, the statement is equivalent to requiring that, for all $m \in \mathbb{N}_0$, the functions $|\nabla^m x_p|$ are bounded on V_p , uniformly on $p \in M$. By (46), this in turn is equivalent to requiring that the functions $|\mathring{\nabla}^m x_p|$ are bounded on V_p , uniformly on $p \in M$. But this follows from Theorem 5.2, since the functions $x_p x_p^{-1} = \operatorname{id}_{B' \times B''}$ obviously define a bounded subset of the Fréchet space $C^{\infty}(B' \times B'', \mathbb{R}^{n'} \times \mathbb{R}^{n''})$. Take $0 < r' < r'_0$ and $0 < r'' < r''_0$ such that $r' + r'' < r_0$. Then $U_{p,r',r''} \subset V_p$ for all $p \in M$ by the triangle inequality. The proof of the following result is similar to the proof of Proposition 5.6.

Proposition 5.7. The functions $y_p x_p^{-1}$, for $p \in M$, define a bounded subset of the Fréchet space $C^{\infty}(B'_{r'} \times B''_{r''}, \mathbb{R}^n)$.

Let E be the Hermitian vector bundle of bounded geometry associated to the principal O(n)-bundle of orthonormal frames on M and a unitary representation of O(n) (Example 3.6.1). Since ∇ on TM is of bounded geometry, it follows from (46) that $\mathring{\nabla}$ is also of bounded geometry. Thus we get induced connections ∇ and $\mathring{\nabla}$ of bounded geometry on E (Example 3.10i). By (46), we also get that $\mathring{\nabla}$ can be used instead of ∇ to define equivalent versions of $\|\cdot\|_{C^m_{ub}}$ and $\langle\cdot,\cdot\rangle_m$ in the spaces $C^m_{ub}(M; E)$ and $H^m(M; E)$ (Sections 3.7 and 3.11). By Propositions 5.6 and 5.7, if B' and B'' are small enough, then we can use the coordinates (U_p, x_p) instead of (V_p, y_p) to define equivalent versions of $\|\cdot\|'_{C^m_{ub}}$ and $\langle\cdot,\cdot\rangle'_m$. Similarly, given another bundle F like E, we can use the coordinates (U_p, x_p) instead of (V_p, y_p) to describe $\text{Diff}^m_{ub}(M; E, F)$ (Section 3.9) by requiring that the local coefficients form a bounded subset of the Fréchet space $C^{\infty}(B' \times B''; \mathbb{C}^{l'} \otimes \mathbb{C}^{l*})$, where l and l' are the ranks of Eand F.

The conditions of being leafwise differential operators and having bounded geometry are preserved by compositions, and by taking transposes and formal adjoints. Moreover,

$$\operatorname{Diff}_{ub}(\mathcal{F}; E, F) = \operatorname{Diff}(\mathcal{F}; E, F) \cap \operatorname{Diff}_{ub}(M; E, F)$$

is a filtered $C_{ub}^{\infty}(M)$ -submodule of $\text{Diff}(\mathcal{F}; E, F)$. The notation $\text{Diff}_{ub}(\mathcal{F}; E)$ is used if E = F; this is a graded subalgebra of $\text{Diff}(\mathcal{F}; E)$. The concepts of uniform leafwise ellipticity for operators in $\text{Diff}(\mathcal{F}; E, F)$, and uniform transverse ellipticity for operators in Diff(M; E, F), can be defined like uniform ellipticity (Section 3.9). If $P \in \text{Diff}_{ub}^1(\mathcal{F}; E)$ is uniformly leafwise elliptic and $Q \in \text{Diff}_{ub}^1(M; E)$ is uniformly transversely elliptic, then $H^m(M; E)$ can be described with the scalar product $\langle u, v \rangle_m = \langle (1 + P^*P + Q^*Q)^m u, v \rangle \ (m \in \mathbb{R})$.

The normal foliated coordinates (U_p, x_p) can be used in a standard way to endow $T\mathcal{F}$ with the structure of a vector bundle of bounded geometry, and let $\mathfrak{X}_{ub}(\mathcal{F}) = C^{\infty}_{ub}(M; T\mathcal{F})$, which equals $\mathfrak{X}_{ub}(M) \cap \mathfrak{X}(\mathcal{F})$. On the other hand, let $\mathfrak{X}_{ub}(M, \mathcal{F}) = \mathfrak{X}_{ub}(M) \cap \mathfrak{X}(M, \mathcal{F})$.

6. Operators of bounded geometry on differential forms

The principal O(n)-bundle P of orthonormal frames of M has a reduction Q with structural group $O(n') \times O(n'') \subset O(n)$, which consists of the frames of the form (e', e''), where e' and e'' are orthonormal frames in \mathbf{H} and $T\mathcal{F}$, respectively. Then \mathbf{H} and $T\mathcal{F}$ are associated to Q and the unitary representations of $O(n') \times O(n'')$ on $\mathbb{C}^{n'}$ and $\mathbb{C}^{n''}$ induced by the canonical unitary representations of O(n') and O(n''). Thus \mathbf{H} and $T\mathcal{F}$ are of bounded geometry

(Example 3.62). Moreover, $\overset{\circ}{\nabla}$ can be restricted to connections on **H** and $T\mathcal{F}$, which are of bounded geometry because they are induced by the restriction to Q of the connection on P defined by $\overset{\circ}{\nabla}$ (Example 3.10 ii). Thus every $\Lambda^{u,v}M$ is of bounded geometry (Example 3.63), and the connection $\overset{\circ}{\nabla}$ on $\Lambda^{u,v}M$ is of bounded geometry (Example 3.10 ii).

Consider the induced connections ∇ and $\mathring{\nabla}$ of bounded geometry on ΛM . By using $\mathring{\nabla}$ instead of ∇ in the definitions of $\|\cdot\|_{C^m_{ub}}$ and $\langle\cdot,\cdot\rangle_m$, it follows that the spaces $C^m_{ub}(M;\Lambda)$ and $H^m(M;\Lambda)$ inherit the bigrading of ΛM , and therefore $C^{\infty}_{ub}(M;\Lambda)$ and $H^{\pm\infty}(M;\Lambda)$ have an induced bigrading: their terms of bi-degree (u, v) are the uniform and Sobolev spaces for $\Lambda^{u,v}M$. In particular, all of this applies to $\Lambda \mathcal{F} \equiv \Lambda^{0,\cdot}M$.

Lemma 6.1. The canonical projection of ΛM to every $\Lambda^{u,v}M$ is of bounded geometry for all u and v.

Proof. This follows from (51), (52) and Theorem 5.2.

Using the decompositions (31) and (43), let

$$D_0 = d_{0,1} + \delta_{0,-1}, \quad D_\perp = d_{1,0} + \delta_{-1,0},$$

$$\Delta_0 = D_0^2 = d_{0,1}\delta_{0,-1} + \delta_{0,-1}d_{0,1}.$$

Note that $D_0 \in \text{Diff}^1(\mathcal{F}; \Lambda M), D_{\perp} \in \text{Diff}^1(M; \Lambda) \text{ and } \Delta_0 \in \text{Diff}^2(\mathcal{F}; \Lambda M).$

Corollary 6.2. The differential operators $d_{i,j}$, $\delta_{-i,-j}$, D_0 , D_{\perp} and Δ_0 are of bounded geometry.

Proof. This follows from Lemma 6.1, since d is of bounded geometry, and this property is preserved by taking formal adjoints and compositions.

It is elementary that

(53)
$$\begin{aligned} {}^{\mathcal{F}}\!\sigma(d_{0,1})(p,\xi) &= i\xi\wedge, \quad \sigma(d_{-1,0})(p,\zeta) = i\zeta\wedge, \\ {}^{\mathcal{F}}\!\sigma(\delta_{0,-1})(p,\xi) &= i\xi\lrcorner, \quad \sigma(\delta_{0,-1})(p,\zeta) = i\zeta\lrcorner, \end{aligned}$$

for all $p \in M$, $\xi \in T_p^* \mathcal{F}$ and $\zeta \in N_p^* \mathcal{F}$. So

(54)
$$\mathcal{F}_{\sigma}(D_0)(p,\xi) = i(\xi \wedge + \xi \lrcorner), \quad \mathcal{F}_{\sigma}(\Delta_0)(p,\xi) = |\xi|^2,$$
$$\sigma(D_{\bot})(p,\zeta) = i(\zeta \wedge + \zeta \lrcorner).$$

Thus we get the following.

Proposition 6.3. D_0 and Δ_0 are uniformly leafwise elliptic, and D_{\perp} is uniformly transversely elliptic.

Let us extend the arguments of [2, Section 3] to open manifolds using bounded geometry. The expression (48) defines a differential operator

$$\Theta \colon \mathfrak{X}(\mathcal{F}) \to C^{\infty}(M; \mathbf{H}^* \otimes T\mathcal{F}), \quad \Theta_X V = \mathbf{V}([X, V]),$$

Münster Journal of Mathematics Vol. 13 (2020), 221-265

for $X \in C^{\infty}(M; \mathbf{H})$ and $V \in \mathfrak{X}(\mathcal{F})$. It induces a differential operator

$$\Theta \colon C^{\infty}(M; \Lambda \mathcal{F}) \to C^{\infty}(M; \mathbf{H}^* \otimes \Lambda \mathcal{F}),$$
$$(\Theta_X \alpha)(V_1, \dots, V_r) = X \alpha(V_1, \dots, V_r) - \sum_{j=1}^r \alpha(V_1, \dots, \Theta_X V_j, \dots, V_r),$$

for $X \in C^{\infty}(M; \mathbf{H})$, $\alpha \in C^{\infty}(M; \Lambda^r \mathcal{F})$ and $V_j \in \mathfrak{X}(\mathcal{F})$. If $X \in \mathfrak{X}(M, \mathcal{F}) \cap C^{\infty}(M; \mathbf{H})$, then this expression agrees with the operator Θ_X of Section 4.11. According to [2, Lemma 3.3], a zero order differential operator

$$\Xi \colon C^{\infty}(M; \Lambda \mathcal{F}) \to C^{\infty}(M; \mathbf{H}^* \otimes \Lambda \mathcal{F})$$

is locally defined by

$$\Xi_X = (-1)^{(n''-v)v} [\Theta_X, \star_{\mathcal{F}}] \star_{\mathcal{F}}$$

on $C^{\infty}(M; \Lambda^{v}\mathcal{F})$ for any $X \in C^{\infty}(M; \mathbf{H})$, where $\star_{\mathcal{F}}$ is the local leafwise star operator determined by g and any local orientation of \mathcal{F} . This Ξ can be considered as a vector bundle morphism $\Lambda \mathcal{F} \to \mathbf{H}^* \otimes \Lambda \mathcal{F}$. By tensoring Ξ with the identity morphism on $\Lambda \mathbf{H}$, we get a vector bundle morphism $\Lambda M \to$ $\mathbf{H}^* \otimes \Lambda M$ according to (29), which is also denoted by Ξ . On any normal foliated chart (U, x), let K be the endomorphism of ΛU given by

$$K = dx'^i \wedge \Xi_{\mathbf{H}\partial'_i}$$

This local definition gives rise to a global endomorphism K of ΛM .

Proposition 6.4. The endomorphism K is of bounded geometry.

Proof. Take a normal foliated chart (U, x). By (52),

$$\Theta_{\mathbf{H}\partial_i'}\partial_b'' = \mathbf{V}([\mathbf{H}\partial_i',\partial_b'']) = \mathbf{V}([\partial_i' - g_{ik}g^{kj}\partial_j'',\partial_b'']) = \partial_b''(g_{ik}g^{kj})\partial_j'',$$

where k runs in $\{n'+1,\ldots,n\}$. Hence

$$\begin{aligned} (\Theta_{\mathbf{H}\partial_i'}dx''^a)(\partial_b'') &= \mathbf{H}\partial_i'(dx''^a(\partial_b'')) - dx''^a(\Theta_{\mathbf{H}\partial_i'}\partial_b'') \\ &= -\partial_b''(g_{ik}g^{kj})\,dx''^a(\partial_i'') = -\partial_b''(g_{ik}g^{k\alpha}), \end{aligned}$$

giving

$$\Theta_{\mathbf{H}\partial_i'}dx''^a = -\partial_b''(g_{ik}g^{ka})\,dx''^b$$

It follows that $\Theta_{\mathbf{H}\partial'_i} dx''^I = f_{iIK} dx''^K$, where the functions f_{iIK} are universal polynomial expressions of the functions g_{ab} and g^{ab} , and their partial derivatives. On the other hand, for any choice of an orientation of \mathcal{F} on U, we have $\star_{\mathcal{F}} dx''^I = h_{IK} dx''^K$, where the functions h_{IK} are universal expressions of the

functions g_{ab} and g^{ab} . So

$$\begin{split} \Xi_{\mathbf{H}\partial_{i}'}dx''^{I} &= (-1)^{(n''-v)v} [\Theta_{\mathbf{H}\partial_{i}'}, \star_{\mathcal{F}}] \star_{\mathcal{F}} dx''^{I} \\ &= \Theta_{\mathbf{H}\partial_{i}'}dx''^{I} - (-1)^{(n''-v)v} \star_{\mathcal{F}} \Theta_{\mathbf{H}\partial_{i}'} \star_{\mathcal{F}} dx''^{I} \\ &= f_{iIK} dx''^{K} - (-1)^{(n''-v)v} \star_{\mathcal{F}} \Theta_{\mathbf{H}\partial_{i}'}(h_{IL} dx''^{A}) \\ &= f_{iIK} dx''^{K} - (-1)^{(n''-v)v} \star_{\mathcal{F}} \left((\partial_{i}' - g_{ik}g^{kj}\partial_{j}')(h_{IA}) dx''^{A} \right. \\ &+ h_{IA}f_{iAB} dx''^{B} \right) \\ &= \left(f_{iIK} - (-1)^{(n''-v)v} \left((\partial_{i}'h_{IA} - g_{ik}g^{kj}\partial_{j}''h_{IA})h_{AK} \right. \\ &+ h_{IA}f_{iAB}h_{BK} \right) \right) dx''^{K}. \end{split}$$

Like in the case of compact manifolds [2, Proposition 3.1], using the local expression $\delta_{\mathcal{F}} = (-1)^v \star_{\mathcal{F}} d_{\mathcal{F}} \star_{\mathcal{F}}$ on $C^{\infty}(U; \Lambda^v \mathcal{F})$, and (34), (41), (44) and (45), we get

(55)
$$D_{\perp}D_0 + D_0D_{\perp} = KD_0 + D_0K.$$

7. LEAFWISE HODGE DECOMPOSITION

With the notation of Section 5, since M is complete, by (54) and the commutativity of (25), given any $\alpha \in C_c^{\infty}(M; \Lambda)$, the hyperbolic equation

(56)
$$\partial_t \alpha_t = i D_0 \alpha_t, \quad \alpha_0 = \alpha,$$

has a unique solution $\alpha_t \in C_c^{\infty}(M; \Lambda)$ depending smoothly on $t \in \mathbb{R}$, see [14, Theorem 1.3]. The solutions of (56) defined on any open subset of M and for t in any interval containing zero satisfy (see [41, Proposition 1.2])

(57)
$$\operatorname{supp} \alpha_t \subset \operatorname{Pen}_{\mathcal{F}}(\operatorname{supp} \alpha, |t|).$$

This can be proved like (16), or it also follows from (16) by taking restrictions to the leaves.

The operators D_0 and Δ_0 , with domain $C_c^{\infty}(M;\Lambda)$, are essentially selfadjoint in $L^2(M;\Lambda)$ [14, Theorem 2.2], and their selfadjoint extensions are also denoted by D_0 and Δ_0 . Using the functional calculus of D_0 given by the spectral theorem, we get a unitary operator e^{itD_0} and a bounded selfadjoint operator $e^{-t\Delta_0}$ on $L^2(M;\Lambda)$ with $||e^{-t\Delta_0}|| \leq 1$. The solution of (56) is given by $\alpha_t = e^{itD_0}\alpha$. Let Π_0 (or $e^{-\infty\Delta_0}$) denote the orthogonal projection of $L^2(M;\Lambda)$ to the kernel of Δ_0 in $L^2(M;\Lambda)$.

Proposition 7.1. For every $m \in \mathbb{N}_0$, there is some $C_m \ge 0$ such that, for all $\alpha \in C_c^{\infty}(M; \Lambda)$ and $t \in \mathbb{R}$,

$$\|e^{itD_0}\alpha\|_m \le e^{C_m|t|} \|\alpha\|_m.$$

Proof. We adapt arguments from [48, Section IV.2]. The case where M is compact is stated in [41, Proposition 1.4] with more generality.

By Proposition 6.3, we can assume that, for all $\alpha \in C_c^{\infty}(M; \Lambda)$,

$$\|\alpha\|_m = \|\alpha\| + \|D_0^m \alpha\| + \|D_\perp^m \alpha\|$$

Writing $\alpha_t = e^{itD_0}\alpha$, we have

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{d}{dt} \|D_0^m \alpha_t\|^2 &= \langle i D_0^{m+1} \alpha_t, D_0^m \alpha_t \rangle + \langle D_0^m \alpha_t, i D_0^{m+1} \alpha_t \rangle = 0, \\ \frac{d}{dt} \|D_\perp^m \alpha_t\|^2 &= \langle i D_\perp^m D_0 \alpha_t, D_\perp^m \alpha_t \rangle + \langle D_\perp^m \alpha_t, i D_\perp^m D_0 \alpha_t \rangle \\ &= i \langle [\Delta_\perp^m, D_0] \alpha_t, \alpha_t \rangle. \end{aligned}$$

But, by (55),

$$\begin{aligned} [\Delta_{\perp}^{m}, D_{0}] &= \sum_{j=0}^{m-1} \Delta_{\perp}^{m-1-j} [D_{\perp}, D_{\perp} D_{0} + D_{0} D_{\perp}] \Delta_{\perp}^{j} \\ &= \sum_{j=0}^{m-1} \Delta_{\perp}^{m-1-j} [D_{\perp}, K D_{0} + D_{0} K] \Delta_{\perp}^{j}. \end{aligned}$$

This expression can be written as a sum of 4m terms, $\sum_l P_l Q_l$, where, up to sign, P_l and Q_l are operators of the one of the following forms: $D^a_{\perp}KD_0D^b_{\perp}$, $D^a_{\perp}D_0KD^b_{\perp}$ or D^m_{\perp} , for $a, b \in \mathbb{N}_0$ with a + b + 1 = m. In particular, $P_l, Q_l \in \text{Diff}_{ub}^m(M; \Lambda)$ by Corollary 6.2 and Lemma 6.4. Hence there is some $C_m > 0$, independent of α , such that

$$\frac{d}{dt}\|D_{\perp}^{m}\alpha_{t}\|^{2} \leq \sum_{l}|\langle Q_{l}\alpha_{t}, P_{l}^{*}\alpha\rangle| \leq \sum_{l}\|Q_{l}\alpha_{t}\| \cdot \|P_{l}^{*}\alpha\| \leq C_{m}\|\alpha_{t}\|_{m}^{2}.$$

Therefore

$$\frac{d}{dt} \|\alpha_t\|_m^2 \le C_m \|\alpha_t\|_m^2,$$

 \square

and the result follows by using Gronwall's inequality.

Recall also that the Schwartz space $S = S(\mathbb{R})$ is the Fréchet space of functions $\psi \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R})$ such that $\psi^{(m)} \in \mathcal{R}$ for all $m \in \mathbb{N}_0$, with the semi-norms defined by applying the semi-norms of \mathcal{R} to derivatives of arbitrary order. Let \mathcal{A} denote the Fréchet algebra and $\mathbb{C}[z]$ -module of functions $\psi \colon \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{C}$ that can be extended to entire functions on \mathbb{C} such that, for every compact $K \subset \mathbb{R}$, the set $\{x \mapsto \psi(x+iy) \mid y \in K\}$ is bounded in S, see [41, Section 4]. It contains all functions with compactly supported smooth Fourier transform, as well as the Gaussian $x \mapsto e^{-x^2}$. Furthermore, if $\psi \in \mathcal{A}$ and u > 0, then $\psi_u \in \mathcal{A}$, where $\psi_u(x) = \psi(ux)$. By the Paley–Wiener theorem, for every $\psi \in \mathcal{A}$ and c > 0, there is some $A_c > 0$ such that, for all $\xi \in \mathbb{R}$,

(58)
$$\left|\hat{\psi}(\xi)\right| \le A_c e^{-c|\xi|}.$$

The semi-norms on \mathcal{A} , $\|\cdot\|_{\mathcal{A},C,r}$ (C > 0 and $r \in \mathbb{N}_0$), can be defined by

$$\|\psi\|_{\mathcal{A},C,r} = \max_{j+k \le r} \int_{\infty}^{\infty} |\xi^j \partial_{\xi}^k \hat{\psi}(\xi)| \, e^{C|\xi|} \, d\xi$$

Proposition 7.2. The functional calculus map, $\psi \mapsto \psi(D_0)$, restricts to a continuous homomorphism $\mathcal{A} \to \operatorname{End}(H^{\infty}(M;\Lambda))$ of $\mathbb{C}[z]$ -modules and algebras.

Proof. This follows like in the case where M is compact [41, Proposition 4.1]. Precisely, for every $\psi \in \mathcal{A}$, it follows from the inverse Fourier transform that

(59)
$$\psi(D_0) = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \hat{\psi}(\xi) e^{i\xi D_0} d\xi.$$

So, by Proposition 7.1 and (58), $\psi(D_0)$ defines an endomorphism of every $H^m(M;\Lambda)$ with

(60)
$$\|\psi(D_0)\|_m \leq \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} |\hat{\psi}(\xi)| e^{C_m |\xi|} d\xi \leq \frac{A_k}{2\pi} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} e^{(C_m - k)|\xi|} d\xi,$$

which is finite for $k > C_m.$

which is finite for $k > C_m$.

According to Proposition 7.2, the operator $e^{-t\Delta_0}$ (t > 0) restricts to a continuous endomorphism of $H^{\infty}(M; \Lambda)$. As pointed out in [44], by using (55), Corollary 6.2, and Propositions 6.3, 6.4 and 7.2, the arguments of the proof of [2, Theorem A] can be adapted to show the following result, where Δ_0 is considered on $H^{\infty}(M; \Lambda)$.

Theorem 7.3 (Sanguiao [44]). There is a topological direct sum decomposition,

(61)
$$H^{\infty}(M;\Lambda) = \ker \Delta_0 \oplus \overline{\operatorname{im} d_{0,1}} \oplus \overline{\operatorname{im} \delta_{0,-1}}.$$

Moreover. $(t, \alpha) \mapsto e^{-t\Delta_0} \alpha$ defines a continuous map

$$[0,\infty] \times H^{\infty}(M;\Lambda) \to H^{\infty}(M;\Lambda)$$

By Corollary 6.2, $(H^{\infty}(M; \Lambda), d_{0,1})$ is a topological complex. The terms of the direct sum decomposition (61) are orthogonal in $L^2(M; \Lambda)$. Thus Π_0 has a restriction $H^{\infty}(M;\Lambda) \to \ker \Delta_0$, which induces the isomorphism stated in the following corollary. Its inverse is induced by the inclusion map ker $\Delta_0 \hookrightarrow$ $H^{\infty}(M;\Lambda).$

Corollary 7.4 (Sanguiao [44]). As topological vector spaces,

$$H^*(H^\infty(M;\Lambda), d_{0,1}) \cong \ker \Delta_0.$$

By (29) and (32), we can consider $(H^{\infty}(M; \Lambda \mathcal{F}), d_{\mathcal{F}})$ as a topological subcomplex of $(H^{\infty}(M;\Lambda), d_{0,1})$, and the notation $H^*H^{\infty}(\mathcal{F})$ and $\bar{H}^*H^{\infty}(\mathcal{F})$ is used for its (reduced) cohomology. By Lemma 4.12, $\delta_{\mathcal{F}}$ on $H^{\infty}(M; \Lambda \mathcal{F})$ is also given by $\delta_{0,-1}$. Thus we get the operators $D_{\mathcal{F}} = d_{\mathcal{F}} + \delta_{\mathcal{F}}$ and $\Delta_{\mathcal{F}} = D_{\mathcal{F}}^2 =$ $\delta_{\mathcal{F}} d_{\mathcal{F}} + d_{\mathcal{F}} \delta_{\mathcal{F}}$ on $H^{\infty}(M; \Lambda \mathcal{F})$, which are essentially selfadjoint in $L^2(M; \Lambda \mathcal{F})$. Then Propositions 7.1 and 7.2, Theorem 7.3 and Corollary 7.4 have obvious versions for $d_{\mathcal{F}}$, $\delta_{\mathcal{F}}$, $D_{\mathcal{F}}$ and $\Delta_{\mathcal{F}}$; in particular, we get the following.

Theorem 7.5 (Sanguiao [44]). Let \mathcal{F} be a Riemannian foliation of bounded geometry on a Riemannian manifold M with a bundle-like metric. Then there is a topological direct sum decomposition,

(62)
$$H^{\infty}(M;\Lambda\mathcal{F}) = \ker \Delta_{\mathcal{F}} \oplus \overline{\operatorname{im} d_{\mathcal{F}}} \oplus \overline{\operatorname{im} \delta_{\mathcal{F}}}$$

Moreover, $(t, \alpha) \mapsto e^{-t\Delta_{\mathcal{F}}} \alpha$ defines a continuous map

 $[0,\infty] \times H^{\infty}(M;\Lambda \mathcal{F}) \to H^{\infty}(M;\Lambda \mathcal{F}).$

Corollary 7.6 (Sanguiao [44]). We have $\overline{H}^*H^{\infty}(\mathcal{F}) \cong \ker \Delta_{\mathcal{F}}$, as topological vector spaces.

Theorem 7.3 and Corollary 7.4 can be considered as versions of Theorem 7.5 and Corollary 7.6 with coefficients in $\Lambda N \mathcal{F}$. We could also take leafwise differential forms with coefficients in other Hermitian vector bundles associated to $N \mathcal{F}$, like the bundles of transverse densities or transverse symmetric tensors¹⁴.

Compare Theorem 7.3 and Corollary 7.6 with (10) and (11) (the case of an elliptic complex on a closed manifold).

8. Foliated maps of bounded geometry

For a = 1, 2, let \mathcal{F}_a be a Riemannian foliation of bounded geometry on a manifold M_a with a bundle-like metric. Set $n'_a = \operatorname{codim} \mathcal{F}_a$ and $n''_a = \dim \mathcal{F}_a$. Consider a normal foliated chart $x_{a,p} \colon U_{a,p} \to B'_a \times B''_a$ at every $p \in M_a$ satisfying the conditions of Theorem 5.2. Let r'_a and r''_a denote the radii of B'_a and B''_a , respectively. For $0 < r' < r'_a$ and $0 < r'' < r''_a$, let $U_{a,p,r',r''} = x_{a,p}^{-1}(B'_{a,r'} \times B''_{a,r''})$, where $B'_{a,r'} \subset \mathbb{R}^{n'_a}$ and $B''_{a,r''} \subset \mathbb{R}^{n''_a}$ denote the balls centered at the origin with respective radii r' and r''. Like in the cases of $C^m_{ub}(M; E)$, $H^m(M; E)$ and $\operatorname{Diff}^m_{ub}(M; E, F)$ (Section 5), in the definition of bounded geometry for maps $M_1 \to M_2$ (Section 3.16), we can replace the charts $(V_{1,p}, y_{1,p})$ and $(V_{2,\phi(p)}, y_{2,\phi(p)})$ with the charts $(U_{1,p,r',r''}$. Let

$$C_{\rm ub}^{\infty}(M_1, \mathcal{F}_1; M_2, \mathcal{F}_2) = C^{\infty}(M_1, \mathcal{F}_1; M_2, \mathcal{F}_2) \cap C_{\rm ub}^{\infty}(M_1, M_2).$$

For $m \in \mathbb{N}_0$ and $\phi \in C^{\infty}_{ub}(M_1, \mathcal{F}_1; M_2, \mathcal{F}_2)$, using the version of $\|\cdot\|'_{C^m_{ub}}$ defined with the charts (U_p, x_p) , it follows that ϕ^* induces a bounded homomorphism

$$\phi^* \colon C^m_{\mathrm{ub}}(M_2; \Lambda \mathcal{F}_2) \to C^m_{\mathrm{ub}}(M_1; \Lambda \mathcal{F}_1),$$

obtaining a continuous homomorphism

$$\phi^* \colon C^{\infty}_{\mathrm{ub}}(M_2; \Lambda \mathcal{F}_2) \to C^{\infty}_{\mathrm{ub}}(M_1; \Lambda \mathcal{F}_1).$$

These homomorphisms are induced by (19) and (20) via (29). Similarly, if ϕ is also uniformly metrically proper, then ϕ^* induces a bounded homomorphism

$$\phi^* \colon H^m(M_2; \Lambda \mathcal{F}_2) \to H^m(M_1; \Lambda \mathcal{F}_1)$$

for all m, and therefore it induces a continuous homomorphism

$$\phi^* \colon H^{\pm \infty}(M_2; \Lambda \mathcal{F}_2) \to H^{\pm \infty}(M_1; \Lambda \mathcal{F}_1)$$

By (36), these homomorphisms are induced by (21) and (22) via (29).

Now, let $\phi = \{\phi^t\}$ be a foliated flow on (M, \mathcal{F}) of \mathbb{R} -local bounded geometry, and let $Z \in \mathfrak{X}_{ub}(M, \mathcal{F})$ be its infinitesimal generator (Proposition 3.18).

¹⁴However, this is not true for any Hermitian vector bundle with a flat Riemannian \mathcal{F} -partial connection, contrary to what was wrongly asserted in [2, Corollary C] when M is compact. A counterexample was provided to the first two authors by S. Goette.

Every ϕ^t is uniformly metrically proper because $\phi^{\pm t}$ is of bounded geometry (Section 3.16). Thus ϕ^{t*} induces continuous homomorphisms,

$$C^{\infty}_{\mathrm{ub}}(M;\Lambda\mathcal{F}) \to C^{\infty}_{\mathrm{ub}}(M;\Lambda\mathcal{F}), \quad H^{\pm\infty}(M;\Lambda\mathcal{F}) \to H^{\pm\infty}(M;\Lambda\mathcal{F}).$$

Proposition 8.1. We have $\Theta_Z \in \text{Diff}^1_{ub}(M; \Lambda \mathcal{F})$.

Proof. Since $d \in \text{Diff}^1_{ub}(M; \Lambda \mathcal{F})$ and $Z \in \mathfrak{X}_{ub}(M, \mathcal{F})$, we obtain that $\mathcal{L}_Z = d\iota_Z + \iota_Z d$ is of bounded geometry. So $\Theta_Z \equiv \mathcal{L}_{Z,0,0}$ is of bounded geometry by Lemma 6.1 and using the identity (29).

By (37) and (53),

$$\sigma(\Theta_Z)(p,\zeta) = i\zeta(Z)$$

for all $p \in M$ and $\zeta \in N_p^*M$, obtaining the following.

Proposition 8.2. Θ_Z is uniformly transversely elliptic if $\inf_M |\overline{Z}| > 0$.

9. A class of smoothing operators

Suppose that \mathcal{F} is of codimension one¹⁵. Assume also that M is equipped with a bundle-like metric g so that \mathcal{F} is of bounded geometry. Let $\phi = \{\phi^t\}$ be a foliated flow of \mathbb{R} -local bounded geometry, whose infinitesimal generator is $Z \in \mathfrak{X}_{ub}(M, \mathcal{F})$ (Proposition 3.18). Suppose that $\inf_M |\overline{Z}| > 0$; in particular, the orbits of ϕ are transverse to the leaves. Moreover, let $A = \{A_t \mid t \in \mathbb{R}\} \subset$ $\operatorname{Diff}^m(\mathcal{F}; \Lambda \mathcal{F})$ be a smooth \mathbb{R} -compactly supported family of \mathbb{R} -local bounded geometry. For every $\psi \in \mathcal{A}$, the operator

(63)
$$P = \int_{\mathbb{R}} \phi^{t*} A_t \, dt \, \psi(D_{\mathcal{F}})$$

on $H^{-\infty}(M; \Lambda \mathcal{F})$ is defined by the version of Proposition 7.2 for $D_{\mathcal{F}}$. The subindex " ψ " may be added to the notation of P if needed, or the subindex "u" in the case of functions $\psi_u \in \mathcal{A}$ depending on a parameter u.

Proposition 9.1. P_{ψ} is a smoothing operator, and the linear map

 $\mathcal{A} \to L(H^{-\infty}(M;\Lambda\mathcal{F}), H^{\infty}(M;\Lambda\mathcal{F})), \quad \psi \mapsto P_{\psi},$

is continuous.

Proof. According to the proof of Proposition 7.2, $\psi(D_{\mathcal{F}})$ defines a bounded operator on every $H^m(M; \Lambda \mathcal{F})$. Since, moreover, ϕ and A are of \mathbb{R} -local bounded geometry, and A is \mathbb{R} -compactly supported, it follows that P also defines a bounded operator on every $H^m(M; \Lambda \mathcal{F})$.

Since $\Theta_Z \in \text{Diff}^1_{ub}(M; \Lambda \mathcal{F})$ is uniformly transversely elliptic (see Propositions 8.1 and 8.2) and $D_{\mathcal{F}} \in \text{Diff}^1_{ub}(\mathcal{F}; \Lambda \mathcal{F})$ is uniformly leafwise elliptic (Corollary 6.2 and Proposition 6.3), to get that P is smoothing, it suffices to prove that $\Theta_Z^N P$ and $D_{\mathcal{F}}^N P$ are of the form (63) for all $N \in \mathbb{N}_0$. In turn, this follows by showing that $\Theta_Z P$ and QP are of the form (63) for any $Q \in \text{Diff}_{ub}(\mathcal{F}; \Lambda \mathcal{F})$.

¹⁵The higher dimensional case could be treated like in [4], but we only consider codimension one here for the sake of simplicity.

We have

$$QP = \int_{\mathbb{R}} \phi^{t*} B_t \, dt \, \psi(D_{\mathcal{F}}),$$

where $B_t = \phi^{-t*}Q\phi^{t*}A_t$. Since ϕ^t is a foliated map, this defines a smooth family $B = \{B_t \mid t \in \mathbb{R}\} \subset \text{Diff}(\mathcal{F}; \Lambda \mathcal{F})$. Moreover, B is \mathbb{R} -compactly supported and of \mathbb{R} -local bounded geometry because A is \mathbb{R} -compactly supported, and ϕ , Q and A are of \mathbb{R} -local bounded geometry. Thus QP is of the form (63).

Let $C = \{C_t \mid t \in \mathbb{R}\} \subset \text{Diff}(\mathcal{F}; \Lambda \mathcal{F})$ be the smooth family given by $C_t = \frac{d}{ds} A_{t-s}|_{s=0}$. Note that C is of \mathbb{R} -local bounded geometry because the family A is of \mathbb{R} -local bounded geometry and \mathbb{R} -compactly supported. Like in the proof of [4, Proposition 6.1], we get

$$\Theta_Z P = \frac{d}{ds} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \phi^{t+s*} A_t \, dt \Big|_{s=0} \psi(D_{\mathcal{F}})$$
$$= \frac{d}{ds} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \phi^{r*} A_{r-s} \, dr \Big|_{s=0} \psi(D_{\mathcal{F}}) = \int_{\mathbb{R}} \phi^{t*} C_t \, dt \, \psi(D_{\mathcal{F}}),$$

which is of the form (63).

By (60), for any $N \in \mathbb{N}_0$ and $\psi \in \mathcal{A}$, the operator $(1 + \Delta_{\mathcal{F}})^N \psi(D_{\mathcal{F}})$ extends to a bounded operator on every $H^m(M; \Lambda \mathcal{F})$ with

(64)
$$\|(1+\Delta_{\mathcal{F}})^N \psi(D_{\mathcal{F}})\|_m \le \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} |(1-\partial_{\xi}^2)^N \hat{\psi}(\xi)| e^{C_m |\xi|} d\xi$$

Hence, by the above argument, it can be easily seen that, for integers $m \leq m'$, there are some C, C' > 0 and $N \in \mathbb{N}_0$ such that

(65)
$$||P||_{m,m'} \le C' \int |(\operatorname{id} -\partial_{\xi}^2)^N \hat{\psi}(\xi)| e^{C|\xi|} d\xi \le C' ||\psi||_{\mathcal{A},C,2N}$$

Here, C depends on m and m', and C' depends on m, m' and A. Then the mapping $\psi \mapsto P_{\psi}$ of the statement is continuous.

Corollary 9.2. The linear map

$$\mathcal{A} \to C^{\infty}_{\mathrm{ub}}(M^2; \Lambda \mathcal{F} \boxtimes (\Lambda \mathcal{F}^* \otimes \Omega M)), \quad \psi \mapsto K_{P_{\psi}},$$

is continuous.

Proof. This follows from Propositions 9.1 and 3.14.

Now, consider the particular case where $\psi_u(x) = e^{-ux^2}$, and the corresponding operators P_u (u > 0), defined on $H^{\infty}(M; \Lambda \mathcal{F})$. Let also

$$P_{\infty} = \int_{\mathbb{R}} \phi^{t*} A_t \, dt \, \Pi_{\mathcal{F}}$$

on $H^{\infty}(M; \Lambda \mathcal{F})$, where $\Pi_{\mathcal{F}}$ is the orthogonal projection to ker $\Delta_{\mathcal{F}}$.

Corollary 9.3. P_{∞} is a smoothing operator.

Proof. This follows from Theorem 7.5 and Proposition 9.1, since we have $P_{\infty} = P_u \Pi_{\mathcal{F}}$.

Proposition 9.4. $P_u \to P_\infty$ in $L(H^{-\infty}(M;\Lambda \mathcal{F}), H^\infty(M;\Lambda \mathcal{F}))$ as $u \uparrow \infty$.

Proof. By Theorem 7.3, $e^{-u\Delta_{\mathcal{F}}} - \Pi_{\mathcal{F}} \to 0$ in $\operatorname{End}(H^{\infty}(M; \Lambda \mathcal{F}))$ as $u \uparrow \infty$. Therefore this convergence also holds in $\operatorname{End}(H^{-\infty}(M; \Lambda \mathcal{F}))$, by taking dual spaces and dual operators. Hence

$$P_u - P_\infty = P_1(e^{-(u-1)\Delta_{\mathcal{F}}} - \Pi_{\mathcal{F}}) \to 0$$

in $L(H^{-\infty}(M;\Lambda\mathcal{F}), H^{\infty}(M;\Lambda\mathcal{F}))$ as $u \uparrow \infty$.

Corollary 9.5. $K_{P_u} \to K_{P_\infty}$ in $C^{\infty}_{ub}(M^2; \Lambda \mathcal{F} \boxtimes (\Lambda \mathcal{F}^* \otimes \Omega M))$ as $u \uparrow \infty$.

Proof. This follows from Propositions 3.14 and 9.4.

From now on, consider only the case where $A = f \in C_{c}^{\infty}(\mathbb{R})$, obtaining the smoothing operator

(66)
$$P = \int_{\mathbb{R}} \phi^{t*} f(t) dt \, \psi(D_{\mathcal{F}}),$$

as well as its versions, P_u if ψ_u is used, and P_∞ if $\Pi_{\mathcal{F}}$ is used. The proof of [4, Proposition 6.1] clearly extends to the open manifold case, showing the following improvement of (65).

Proposition 9.6. For any compact $I \subset \mathbb{R}$ containing supp f, and for all $m, m' \in \mathbb{N}_0$, there are some C, C' > 0 and $N \in \mathbb{N}_0$, depending on m, m' and I, such that

$$||P||_{m,m'} \le C' ||f||_{C^N,I} ||\psi||_{\mathcal{A},C,N}.$$

Here, $\|\cdot\|_{C^N,I}$ is the semi-norm on $C^N(\mathbb{R})$ defined by

$$||f||_{C^{N},I} = \max\{|f^{(m)}(x)| \mid x \in I, \ m = 0, \dots, N\}.$$

10. Description of some Schwartz kernels

Here, we will keep the setting of Section 9. The transverse vector field \overline{Z} defines the structure of a transversely complete \mathbb{R} -Lie foliation on \mathcal{F} (Section 4.10). The corresponding Fedida's description of \mathcal{F} is given by a regular covering map $\pi \colon \widetilde{M} \to M$, a holonomy homomorphism $h \colon \Gamma := \operatorname{Aut}(\pi) \to \mathbb{R}$, and the developing map $D \colon \widetilde{M} \to \mathbb{R}$ (Section 4.10). The lift of the bundle-like metric g to \widetilde{M} is a bundle-like metric \tilde{g} of $\widetilde{\mathcal{F}} = \pi^* \mathcal{F}$, and let $\tilde{\phi} \colon \widetilde{M} \times \mathbb{R} \to \widetilde{M}$ and $\widetilde{Z} \in \mathfrak{X}_{\mathrm{ub}}(\widetilde{M}, \widetilde{\mathcal{F}})$ be the lifts of ϕ and Z. Then \tilde{g} and \widetilde{Z} are Γ -invariant, and $\tilde{\phi}$ is Γ -equivariant. Moreover, \widetilde{Z} is D-projectable, and we can assume that $D_*\widetilde{Z} = \partial_x \in \mathfrak{X}(\mathbb{R})$, where x denotes the standard global coordinate of \mathbb{R} . Thus ϕ induces via D the flow ϕ on \mathbb{R} defined by $\phi^t(x) = t + x$. Considering the equivalence between the holonomy pseudogroup and the pseudogroup generated by the action of Hol \mathcal{F} on \mathbb{R} by translations, this ϕ corresponds to the equivariant local flow ϕ induced by ϕ on the holonomy pseudogroup. Since ϕ^t preserves every Hol \mathcal{F} -orbit in \mathbb{R} if and only if $t \in \operatorname{Hol}\mathcal{F}$, it follows that ϕ^t preserves every leaf of \mathcal{F} if and only if $t \in \operatorname{Hol}\mathcal{F}$.

For any $\psi \in \mathcal{A}$ and $f \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R})$, we have the smoothing operator P given by (66), and a similar smoothing operator \widetilde{P} defined with $\widetilde{\phi}$ and $\widetilde{\mathcal{F}}$ instead

of ϕ and \mathcal{F} . We are going to describe their smoothing kernels under some assumptions.

Let $\mathfrak{G} = \operatorname{Hol}(M, \mathcal{F})$ and $\widetilde{\mathfrak{G}} = \operatorname{Hol}(\widetilde{M}, \widetilde{\mathcal{F}})$, whose source and range maps are denoted by $\mathbf{s}, \mathbf{r} \colon \mathfrak{G} \to M$ and $\widetilde{\mathbf{s}}, \widetilde{\mathbf{r}} \colon \widetilde{\mathfrak{G}} \to \widetilde{M}$ (Section 4.4). Since the leaves of \mathcal{F} and $\widetilde{\mathcal{F}}$ have trivial holonomy groups, the smooth immersions $(\mathbf{r}, \mathbf{s}) \colon \mathfrak{G} \to$ M^2 and $(\widetilde{\mathbf{r}}, \widetilde{\mathbf{s}}) \colon \widetilde{\mathfrak{G}} \to \widetilde{M}^2$ are injective, with images $\mathcal{R}_{\mathcal{F}}$ and $\mathcal{R}_{\widetilde{\mathcal{F}}}$. Via these injections, the restriction $\pi \times \pi \colon \mathcal{R}_{\widetilde{\mathcal{F}}} \to \mathcal{R}_{\mathcal{F}}$ corresponds to the Lie groupoid homomorphism $\pi_{\mathfrak{G}} := \operatorname{Hol}(\pi) \colon \widetilde{\mathfrak{G}} \to \mathfrak{G}$ (Section 4.8), which is a covering map with $\operatorname{Aut}(\pi_{\mathfrak{G}}) \equiv \Gamma$. In fact, since $\widetilde{\mathcal{F}}$ is defined by the fiber bundle D, we get that $\mathcal{R}_{\widetilde{\mathcal{F}}}$ is a regular submanifold of \widetilde{M}^2 , and $(\widetilde{\mathbf{r}}, \widetilde{\mathbf{s}}) \colon \widetilde{\mathfrak{G}} \to \mathcal{R}_{\widetilde{\mathcal{F}}}$ is a diffeomorphism. We may write $\mathfrak{G} \equiv \mathcal{R}_{\mathcal{F}}$ and $\widetilde{\mathfrak{G}} \equiv \mathcal{R}_{\widetilde{\mathcal{F}}}$.

Consider the C^{∞} vector bundles, $S = \mathbf{r}^* \Lambda \mathcal{F} \otimes \mathbf{s}^* (\Lambda \mathcal{F} \otimes \Omega \mathcal{F})$ over \mathfrak{G} and $\widetilde{S} = \tilde{\mathbf{r}}^* \Lambda \widetilde{\mathcal{F}} \otimes \tilde{\mathbf{s}}^* (\Lambda \widetilde{\mathcal{F}} \otimes \Omega \widetilde{\mathcal{F}})$ over $\widetilde{\mathfrak{G}}$. Note that $\widetilde{S} \equiv \pi^*_{\mathfrak{G}} S$, and any $k \in C^{\infty}(\mathfrak{G}; S)$ lifts via $\pi_{\mathfrak{G}}$ to a section $\widetilde{k} \in C^{\infty}(\widetilde{\mathfrak{G}}; \widetilde{S})$. Since π restricts to diffeomorphisms of the leaves of $\widetilde{\mathcal{F}}$ to the leaves of \mathcal{F} , it follows that $\widetilde{k} \in C^{\infty}_{\mathrm{p}}(\widetilde{\mathfrak{G}}; \widetilde{S})$ if and only if $k \in C^{\infty}_{\mathrm{p}}(\mathfrak{G}; S)$.

For any $\psi \in \mathcal{R}$, the collection of Schwartz kernels $k_L := K_{\psi(D_L)}$, for all leaves L of \mathcal{F} , defines a section $k = k_{\psi}$ of S called *leafwise Schwartz kernel*, which a priori may not be continuous. This also applies to the operators $\psi(D_{\widetilde{L}})$ on the leaves \widetilde{L} of $\widetilde{\mathcal{F}}$, obtaining the leafwise Schwartz kernel $\widetilde{k} = \widetilde{k}_{\psi}$, which is a possibly discontinuous section of \widetilde{S} .

Proposition 10.1. If $\hat{\psi} \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R})$, then $k_{\psi} \in C_p^{\infty}(\mathfrak{G}; S)$, and the global action of k_{ψ} on $C_c^{\infty}(M; \Lambda \mathcal{F})$ (Section 4.5) agrees with the restriction of the operator $\psi(D_{\mathcal{F}})$ on $H^{\infty}(M; \Lambda \mathcal{F})$, defined by Proposition 7.2 and (29).

Proof. This follows with the arguments of [41, Theorem 2.1], using $C_{\rm p}^{\infty}(\mathfrak{G}; S)$ instead of $C_{\rm c}^{\infty}(\mathfrak{G}; S)$ when M is not compact.

Remark 10.2. In Proposition 10.1, more precisely, if $\operatorname{supp} \hat{\psi} \subset [-R, R]$ for some R > 0, then $\operatorname{supp} k_{\psi} \subset \overline{\operatorname{Pen}}_{\mathcal{F}}(\mathfrak{G}^{(0)}, R)$ by (18). Hence $\operatorname{supp} \psi(D_{\mathcal{F}})\alpha \subset \overline{\operatorname{Pen}}_{\mathcal{F}}(\operatorname{supp} \alpha, R)$ for all $\alpha \in H^{-\infty}(M; \Lambda \mathcal{F})$ by Remark 3.15.

Suppose for a while that $\hat{\psi} \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R})$. Then Proposition 10.1 also applies to $\widetilde{\mathcal{F}}$, obtaining that $\tilde{k} \in C_p^{\infty}(\widetilde{\mathfrak{G}}; \widetilde{S})$, and the global action of \tilde{k} on $C_c^{\infty}(\widetilde{M}; \Lambda \widetilde{\mathcal{F}})$ is the restriction of the operator $\psi(D_{\widetilde{\mathcal{F}}})$ on $H^{\infty}(\widetilde{M}; \Lambda \widetilde{\mathcal{F}})$ defined by Proposition 7.2 and (29). Indeed, since π restricts to a diffeomorphism between the leaves of $\widetilde{\mathcal{F}}$ and the leaves of \mathcal{F} , we get that \tilde{k} is the lift of k, and therefore the diagram

is commutative, where

(68)
$$\pi_* \tilde{\alpha} \equiv \sum_{\gamma \in \Gamma} T^*_{\gamma} \tilde{\alpha}$$

for all $\tilde{\alpha} \in C^{\infty}_{c}(\widetilde{M}; \Lambda \widetilde{\mathcal{F}})$, using the notation T_{γ} for the action of every $\gamma \in \Gamma$ on \widetilde{M} . Locally, the series of (68) only has a finite number of nonzero terms. The same expression also defines $\pi_* : C^{-\infty}_{c}(\widetilde{M}; \Lambda \widetilde{\mathcal{F}}) \to C^{-\infty}_{c}(M; \Lambda \mathcal{F})$.

Take some R > 0 such that $\operatorname{supp} \hat{\psi} \subset [-R, R]$. By Remark 10.2 and since ϕ is of \mathbb{R} -local bounded geometry, there is some R' > 0 such that $\operatorname{supp} P\alpha \subset \overline{\operatorname{Pen}}(\operatorname{supp} \alpha, R')$ for all $\alpha \in H^{-\infty}(M; \Lambda \mathcal{F})$. Thus P defines a continuous homomorphism $C_c^{-\infty}(M; \Lambda \mathcal{F}) \to C_c^{\infty}(M; \Lambda \mathcal{F})$. Similarly, \tilde{P} defines a continuous homomorphism $C_c^{-\infty}(\widetilde{M}; \Lambda \widetilde{\mathcal{F}}) \to C_c^{\infty}(\widetilde{M}; \Lambda \widetilde{\mathcal{F}})$. Moreover, the commutativity of (67) yields the commutativity of the diagram

Let $\tilde{\Lambda} = D^* dx \equiv dx$, which is a transverse invariant volume form of $\tilde{\mathcal{F}}$ defining the same transverse orientation as $\overline{\tilde{Z}}$. Since $\tilde{\Lambda}$ is Γ -invariant by the *h*-equivariance of *D*, it defines a transverse volume form Λ of \mathcal{F} , which defines the same transverse orientation as \overline{Z} . These $\tilde{\Lambda}$ and Λ define transverse invariant densities $|\tilde{\Lambda}|$ and $|\Lambda|$ of $\tilde{\mathcal{F}}$ and \mathcal{F} .

Proposition 10.3. Let $\psi \in \mathcal{A}$ and $\tilde{p}, \tilde{q} \in \widetilde{M}$ over $p, q \in M$. Then, writing $t_{\tilde{p},\tilde{q}} = D(\tilde{q}) - D(\tilde{p})$ and using the identity $\widetilde{S}_{(\tilde{p},\tilde{q})} \equiv S_{(p,q)}$, we have¹⁶

$$K_P(p,q) \equiv \sum_{\gamma \in \Gamma} T^*_{\gamma} \, \tilde{\phi}^{t_{\tilde{p},\tilde{q}}-h(\gamma)*} \tilde{k}(T_{\gamma} \tilde{\phi}^{t_{\tilde{p},\tilde{q}}-h(\gamma)}(\tilde{p}), \tilde{q}) \, f(t_{\tilde{p},\tilde{q}}) \, |\Lambda|(q),$$

defining a convergent series in $C^{\infty}_{ub}(M^2; S)$.

Proof. We can assume that $\hat{\psi} \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R})$ by Propositions 9.6 and 3.14, and because $C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R})$ is dense in \mathcal{A} . Then, by Proposition 10.1, for all $\tilde{\alpha} \in C_c^{\infty}(\widetilde{M}; \Lambda \widetilde{\mathcal{F}})$,

$$\begin{split} (\widetilde{P}\widetilde{\alpha})(\widetilde{p}) &= \int_{\mathbb{R}} \left(\widetilde{\phi}^{t*} \, \psi(D_{\widetilde{\mathcal{F}}})\widetilde{\alpha} \right) (\widetilde{p}) \, f(t) \, dt \\ &= \int_{\mathbb{R}} \widetilde{\phi}^{t*} \left(\psi(D_{\widetilde{\mathcal{F}}})\widetilde{\alpha} \right) \left(\widetilde{\phi}^{t}(\widetilde{p}) \right) f(t) \, dt \\ &= \int_{t \in \mathbb{R}} \int_{\widetilde{q} \in D^{-1}(t)} \widetilde{\phi}^{t*} \widetilde{k} (\widetilde{\phi}^{t}(\widetilde{p}), \widetilde{q}) \widetilde{\alpha}(\widetilde{q}) \, f(t) \, dt \\ &= \int_{\widetilde{q} \in \widetilde{M}} \widetilde{\phi}^{t_{\widetilde{p},\widetilde{q}}*} \widetilde{k} (\widetilde{\phi}^{t_{\widetilde{p},\widetilde{q}}}(\widetilde{p}), \widetilde{q}) \widetilde{\alpha}(\widetilde{q}) \, f(t_{\widetilde{p},\widetilde{q}}) \, \left| \widetilde{\Lambda} \right| (\widetilde{q}) \end{split}$$

,

¹⁶The leafwise part of the density of $K_P(\cdot, q)$ is given by the density of $\tilde{k}(\cdot, \tilde{q})$.

Münster Journal of Mathematics Vol. 13 (2020), 221-265

because $D\tilde{\phi}^t(\tilde{p}) = D(\tilde{q})$ if and only if $t = t_{\tilde{p},\tilde{q}}$. Therefore

$$K_{\widetilde{P}}(\widetilde{p},\widetilde{q}) = \widetilde{\phi}^{t_{\widetilde{p},\widetilde{q}}*}\widetilde{k}(\widetilde{\phi}^{t_{\widetilde{p},\widetilde{q}}}(\widetilde{p}),\widetilde{q}) f(t_{\widetilde{p},\widetilde{q}}) \left|\widetilde{\Lambda}\right|(\widetilde{q}).$$

On the other hand, by (68) and the commutativity of (69),

$$K_P(p,q) \equiv \sum_{\gamma \in \Gamma} T^*_{\gamma} K_{\widetilde{P}}(\gamma \cdot \widetilde{p}, \widetilde{q})$$

Locally, this series only has a finite number of nonzero terms. This is the series of the statement because $D(\tilde{q}) - D(\gamma \cdot \tilde{p}) = D(\tilde{q}) - D(\tilde{p}) - h(\gamma)$ by the *h*-equivariance of *D*.

11. EXTENSION TO THE LEAFWISE NOVIKOV DIFFERENTIAL COMPLEX

Consider the notation of Section 2.6 and Section 4.11, and assume that $\theta \in C^{\infty}_{ub}(M; \Lambda^{0,1}) \equiv C^{\infty}_{ub}(M; \Lambda^{1}\mathcal{F})$. Then, like in (31) and (43), we get the decompositions into bi-homogeneous components,

$$d_z = d_{z,0,1} + d_{1,0} + d_{2,-1}, \quad \delta_z = \delta_{z,0,-1} + \delta_{-1,0} + \delta_{-2,1},$$

where $d_{z,0,1} = d_{0,1} + z \theta \wedge$ and $\delta_{z,0,-1} = \delta_{0,-1} - \overline{z} \theta \downarrow$, which are of bounded geometry by Corollary 6.2 and because $\theta \in C^{\infty}_{ub}(M; \Lambda^{0,1})$. Since θ is closed, we get $d_{i,j}\theta = 0$ for all i, j. So, by (34) and (44),

(70)
$$d_{z,0,1}^2 = d_{z,0,1}d_{1,0} + d_{1,0}d_{z,0,1} = 0,$$

(71)
$$\delta_{z,0,-1}^2 = \delta_{z,0,-1}\delta_{-1,0} + \delta_{-1,0}\delta_{z,0,-1} = 0.$$

Let

$$D_{0,z} = d_{z,0,1} + \delta_{z,0,-1}, \quad \Delta_{0,z} = D_{0,z}^2 = d_{z,0,1}\delta_{z,0,-1} + d_{z,0,1}\delta_{z,0,-1}.$$

On the other hand, we can also consider the leafwise version of the Novikov differential complex, $d_{\mathcal{F},z} = d_{\mathcal{F}} + z \theta \wedge$ on $C^{\infty}(M; \Lambda \mathcal{F})$, or on $C^{\infty}(M; \Lambda \mathcal{F} \otimes \Lambda N \mathcal{F})$, as well as its formal adjoint $\delta_{\mathcal{F},z} = \delta_{\mathcal{F}} - \bar{z} \theta_{\perp}$. They satisfy the obvious versions of (32) and Lemma 4.12, yielding obvious versions of (41) and (45). Furthermore, for any choice of an orientation of \mathcal{F} on a distinguished open set U, we have

$$\delta_{\mathcal{F},z} = (-1)^{n''v+n''+1} \star_{\mathcal{F}} d_{\mathcal{F},-\bar{z}} \star_{\mathcal{F}}$$

on $C^{\infty}(U; \Lambda^{\nu} \mathcal{F})$ by (13). So, using also (70) and (71), we get the following version of (55):

$$D_{\perp}D_{0,z} + D_{0,z}D_{\perp} = KD_{0,z} + D_{0,z}K.$$

This yields straight-forward generalizations of all results and proofs of Section 7 for the *leafwise Novikov operators*, $d_{z,0,1}$, $D_{0,z}$, $\Delta_{0,z}$, $d_{\mathcal{F},z}$, $D_{\mathcal{F},z}$ and $\Delta_{\mathcal{F},z}$. Let $\Pi_{0,z}$ and $\Pi_{\mathcal{F},z}$ denote the corresponding versions of Π_0 and $\Pi_{\mathcal{F}}$. The term *leafwise Witten operators* should be used if θ is leafwise exact.

Let $\phi: (M, \mathcal{F}) \to (M, \mathcal{F})$ be a smooth foliated map, let \overline{M} be a regular covering of M so that the lift $\tilde{\theta}$ of θ is exact, and let $\widetilde{\mathcal{F}}$ be the lift of \mathcal{F} to \widetilde{M} . Like in the case of the Novikov differential complex (Section 2.6), using (27), any lift $\tilde{\phi}: (\widetilde{M}, \widetilde{\mathcal{F}}) \to (\widetilde{M}, \widetilde{\mathcal{F}})$ of ϕ determines an endomorphism ϕ_z^{t*} of the leafwise Novikov differential complex $d_{\mathcal{F},z}$ on $C^{\infty}(M; \Lambda \mathcal{F})$, or on $C^{\infty}(M; \Lambda \mathcal{F} \otimes \Lambda N \mathcal{F})$,

which can be called a *leafwise Novikov perturbation* of ϕ^* . With this definition, there is an obvious generalization of (36), using the bi-homogeneous component $\phi_{z,0,0}^*$ of ϕ_z^* on $C^{\infty}(M; \Lambda)$. For every foliated flow $\phi = \{\phi^t\}$ on (M, \mathcal{F}) , using its unique lift to a foliated flow $\tilde{\phi} = \{\tilde{\phi}^t\}$ on $(\widetilde{M}, \widetilde{\mathcal{F}})$, we get a unique determination of ϕ_z^{t*} on $C^{\infty}(M; \Lambda \mathcal{F})$, or on $C^{\infty}(M; \Lambda \mathcal{F} \otimes \Lambda N \mathcal{F})$, called *the* Novikov perturbation of ϕ^{t*} . Then, in Sections 9 and 10, the definitions of P, P_u , P_{∞} , k, \tilde{k}, k_u and \tilde{k}_u can be extended by using ϕ_z^{t*} and $D_{\mathcal{F},z}$ instead of ϕ^{t*} and $D_{\mathcal{F}}$. The subindex "z" may be added to their notation if needed. Moreover, the results, proofs and observations of Sections 9 and 10 have straight-forward generalizations to this setting, using the indicated extensions of the tools.

References

- J. A. Alvarez López, A finiteness theorem for the spectral sequence of a Riemannian foliation, Illinois J. Math. 33 (1989), no. 1, 79–92. MR0974012
- [2] J. A. Alvarez López and Y. A. Kordyukov, Long time behavior of leafwise heat flow for Riemannian foliations, Compositio Math. 125 (2001), no. 2, 129–153. MR1815391
- [3] J. A. Álvarez López and Y. A. Kordyukov, Distributional Betti numbers of transitive foliations of codimension one, in *Foliations: geometry and dynamics (Warsaw, 2000)*, 159–183, World Sci. Publ., River Edge, NJ, 2002. MR1882768
- [4] J. A. Álvarez López and Y. A. Kordyukov, Lefschetz distribution of Lie foliations, in C^{*}algebras and elliptic theory II, 1–40, Trends Math, Birkhäuser, Basel, 2008. MR2408134
- [5] J. A. Álvarez López, Y. A. Kordyukov, and E. Leichtnam, Riemannian foliations of bounded geometry, Math. Nachr. 287 (2014), no. 14-15, 1589–1608. MR3266125
- [6] J. A. Álvarez López, Y. A. Kordyukov, and E. Leichtnam, Simple foliated flows, arXiv:1906.06753v1 [math.GT] (2019).
- [7] J. A. Álvarez López, Y. A. Kordyukov, and E. Leichtnam, A trace formula for foliated flows, in preparation (2019).
- [8] J. A. Alvarez López and P. Tondeur, Hodge decomposition along the leaves of a Riemannian foliation, J. Funct. Anal. 99 (1991), no. 2, 443–458. MR1121621
- N. Berline, E. Getzler, and M. Vergne, *Heat kernels and Dirac operators*, corrected reprint of the 1992 original, Grundlehren Text Editions, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 2004. MR2273508
- [10] C. Camacho and A. Lins Neto, Geometric theory of foliations, translated from the Portuguese by Sue E. Goodman, Birkhäuser Boston, Inc., Boston, MA, 1985. MR0824240
- [11] A. Candel and L. Conlon, *Foliations. I*, Graduate Studies in Mathematics, 23, American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 2000. MR1732868
- [12] A. Candel and L. Conlon, *Foliations. II*, Graduate Studies in Mathematics, 60, American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 2003. MR1994394
- [13] J. Cheeger, M. Gromov, and M. Taylor, Finite propagation speed, kernel estimates for functions of the Laplace operator, and the geometry of complete Riemannian manifolds, J. Differential Geometry 17 (1982), no. 1, 15–53. MR0658471
- P. R. Chernoff, Essential self-adjointness of powers of generators of hyperbolic equations, J. Funct. Anal. 12 (1973), 401–414. MR0369890
- [15] A. Connes, Sur la théorie non commutative de l'intégration, in Algèbres d'opérateurs (Sém., Les Plans-sur-Bex, 1978), 19–143, Lecture Notes in Math., 725, Springer, Berlin, 1979. MR0548112
- [16] C. Deninger, Some analogies between number theory and dynamical systems on foliated spaces, Doc. Math. 1998, Extra Vol. I, 163–186. MR1648030
- [17] C. Deninger, Number theory and dynamical systems on foliated spaces, Jahresber. Deutsch. Math.-Verein. 103 (2001), no. 3, 79–100. MR1873325

- [18] C. Deninger, On the nature of the "explicit formulas" in analytic number theory—a simple example, in *Number theoretic methods (Iizuka, 2001)*, 97–118, Dev. Math., 8, Kluwer Acad. Publ., Dordrecht, 2002. MR1974137
- [19] C. Deninger, Arithmetic geometry and analysis on foliated spaces, arXiv:math/ 0505354v1 [math.NT] (2005).
- [20] C. Deninger, Analogies between analysis on foliated spaces and arithmetic geometry, in Groups and analysis, 174–190, London Math. Soc. Lecture Note Ser., 354, Cambridge Univ. Press, Cambridge, 2008. MR2528467
- [21] C. Deninger and W. Singhof, A counterexample to smooth leafwise Hodge decomposition for general foliations and to a type of dynamical trace formulas, Ann. Inst. Fourier (Grenoble) 51 (2001), no. 1, 209–219. MR1821074
- [22] C. Deninger and W. Singhof, Real polarizable Hodge structures arising from foliations, Ann. Global Anal. Geom. 21 (2002), no. 4, 377–399. MR1910458
- [23] J. Eichhorn, The boundedness of connection coefficients and their derivatives, Math. Nachr. 152 (1991), 145–158. MR1121230
- [24] E. Fedida, Sur les feuilletages de Lie, C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris Sér. A-B 272 (1971), A999–A1001. MR0285025
- [25] E. Fedida, Feuilletages de Lie, feuilletages du plan, PhD thesis, Strasbourg (1973).
- [26] C. Godbillon, *Feuilletages*, Progress in Mathematics, 98, Birkhäuser Verlag, Basel, 1991. MR1120547
- [27] V. Guillemin, Lectures on spectral theory of elliptic operators, Duke Math. J. 44 (1977), no. 3, 485–517. MR0448452
- [28] A. Haefliger, Some remarks on foliations with minimal leaves, J. Differential Geometry 15 (1980), no. 2, 269–284 (1981). MR0614370
- [29] P. Hartman, Ordinary differential equations, John Wiley & Sons, Inc., New York, 1964. MR0171038
- [30] G. Hector and U. Hirsch, Introduction to the geometry of foliations. Part A, Aspects of Mathematics, 1, Friedr. Vieweg & Sohn, Braunschweig, 1981. MR0639738
- [31] G. Hector and U. Hirsch, Introduction to the geometry of foliations. Part B, second edition, Aspects of Mathematics, E3, Friedr. Vieweg & Sohn, Braunschweig, 1987. MR1110794
- [32] M. W. Hirsch, Differential topology, Springer-Verlag, New York, 1976. MR0448362
- [33] J. Kim, On the leafwise cohomology and dynamical zeta functions for fiber bundles over the circle, arXiv:1712.04181v2 [math.DG] (2018).
- [34] Y. A. Kordyukov and V. A. Pavlenko, On Lefschetz formulas for flows on foliated manifolds, Ufa Math. J. 7 (2015), no. 2, 71–101. MR3430750
- [35] E. Leichtnam, On the analogy between arithmetic geometry and foliated spaces, Rend. Mat. Appl. (7) 28 (2008), no. 2, 163–188. MR2463936
- [36] E. Leichtnam, On the analogy between L-functions and Atiyah-Bott-Lefschetz trace formulas for foliated spaces, Rend. Mat. Appl. (7) 35 (2014), no. 1-2, 1–34. MR3241361
- [37] P. Molino, *Riemannian foliations*, translated from the French by Grant Cairns, Progress in Mathematics, 73, Birkhäuser Boston, Inc., Boston, MA, 1988. MR0932463
- [38] B. O'Neill, The fundamental equations of a submersion, Michigan Math. J. 13 (1966), 459–469. MR0200865
- [39] P. Petersen, Riemannian geometry, Graduate Texts in Mathematics, 171, Springer-Verlag, New York, 1998. MR1480173
- [40] W. A. Poor, Differential geometric structures, McGraw-Hill Book Co., New York, 1981. MR0647949
- [41] J. Roe, Finite propagation speed and Connes' foliation algebra, Math. Proc. Cambridge Philos. Soc. 102 (1987), no. 3, 459–466. MR0906620
- [42] J. Roe, An index theorem on open manifolds. I, J. Differential Geom. 27 (1988), no. 1, 87–113. MR0918459

- [43] J. Roe, Elliptic operators, topology and asymptotic methods, second edition, Pitman Research Notes in Mathematics Series, 395, Longman, Harlow, 1998. MR1670907
- [44] L. Sanguiao, L²-invariants of Riemannian foliations, Ann. Global Anal. Geom. 33 (2008), no. 3, 271–292. MR2390835
- [45] T. Schick, Analysis on ∂-manifolds of bounded geometry, Hodge-De Rham isomorphism and L²-index theorem, Ph.D. thesis, Johannes Gutenberg Universität Mainz, Mainz (1996).
- [46] T. Schick, Manifolds with boundary and of bounded geometry, Math. Nachr. 223 (2001), 103–120. MR1817852
- [47] M. A. Shubin, Spectral theory of elliptic operators on noncompact manifolds, Astérisque No. 207 (1992), 5, 35–108. MR1205177
- [48] M. E. Taylor, *Pseudodifferential operators*, Princeton Mathematical Series, 34, Princeton University Press, Princeton, NJ, 1981. MR0618463
- [49] P. Walczak, Dynamics of foliations, groups and pseudogroups, Instytut Matematyczny Polskiej Akademii Nauk. Monografie Matematyczne (New Series), 64, Birkhäuser Verlag, Basel, 2004. MR2056374

Received May 21, 2019; accepted December 17, 2019

Jesús A. Álvarez López Department/Institute of Mathematics, University of Santiago de Compostela, 15782 Santiago de Compostela, Spain E-mail: jesus.alvarez@usc.es

Yuri A. Kordyukov Institute of Mathematics, Ufa Federal Research Centre, Russian Academy of Science, 112 Chernyshevsky str., 450008 Ufa, Russia E-mail: yurikor@matem.anrb.ru

Eric Leichtnam Institut de Mathématiques de Jussieu-PRG, CNRS, Batiment Sophie Germain (bureau 740), Case 7012, 75205 Paris Cedex 13, France E-mail: ericleichtnam@math.jussieu.fr